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Plaintiff, Christine Baker, upon information and belief and in good faith, alleges as follows:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This is an action for damages and injunctive relief brought by an individual consumer against the defendants for violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (hereafter the “FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (hereafter the “FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., the Fair Credit Billing Act (hereafter the “FCBA”) 15 U.S.C. § 1666, et seq., the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (hereafter the “ECOA”) 15 U.S.C. § 1691 et seq., Negligent Enablement of Identity Theft, Negligence, Fraud, Extortion and Defamation.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1681p, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337 and 15 U.S.C. § 1692k.  Venue lies properly in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

PARTIES
3. Plaintiff CHRISTINE BAKER is an adult individual residing in the State of Arizona, Mohave County, and is a "consumer" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(c).

4. Upon information and belief, defendant FAIR, ISAAC AND COMPANY, INCORPORATED (hereafter “FAIR ISAAC”) maintains headquarters in San Rafael, CA, and developed the credit scores utilized to approve or decline more than 75% of all applications for credit in 2002.
5. Upon information and belief, defendant THOMAS G. GRUDNOWSKI is CEO of FAIR ISAAC.
6. Upon information and belief, defendant THOMAS J. QUINN is employed by FAIR ISAAC.

7. Upon information and belief, defendant BARRY PAPERNO is employed by FAIR ISAAC.

8. Upon information and belief, defendant EQUIFAX CREDIT INFORMATION SERVICES (hereafter “EQUIFAX”) maintains headquarters in Atlanta, GA, and is a "person" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b) and a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(f).

9. Upon information and belief, defendant TOM CHAPMAN is CEO of EQUIFAX. 
10. Upon information and belief, defendant TRANS UNION, LLC (hereafter “TRANS UNION”) maintains headquarters in Chicago, IL, and is a "person" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b) and a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(f).
11. Upon information and belief, defendant HARRY GAMBILL is CEO of TRANS UNION, LLC.
12. Upon information and belief, defendant EXPERIAN INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC. (hereafter “EXPERIAN”) maintains headquarters in Orange, CA, and is a "person" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b) and a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(f).

13. Upon information and belief, defendant CRAIG SMITH is CEO of EXPERIAN.
14. Upon information and belief, defendant CREDITDATA SOUTHWEST (hereafter “CREDITDATA SW”) maintains headquarters in Phoenix, AZ, and is a "person" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b) and a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(f).

15. Upon information and belief, defendant CONSUMERINFO.COM, INC. (hereafter “CONSUMERINFO.COM”) maintains headquarters in Orange, CA, is a "person" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b) and a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(f).

16. Upon information and belief, defendant COMPASS BANCSHARES, INC (hereafter "COMPASS BANK") maintains headquarters in Birmingham, AL, and is a person as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).

17. Upon information and belief, defendant CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION (hereafter “CAPITAL ONE”) maintains headquarters in Falls Church, VA, and is a person as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).

18. Upon information and belief, defendant PROVIDIAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION (hereafter “PROVIDIAN”) maintains headquarters in San Francisco, CA, and is a person as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).

19. Upon information and belief, defendant AMERICAN CREDIT AGENCIES INC (hereafter “AMERICAN AGENCIES”) maintains a principal place of business in Torrance, CA, and is a "debt collector" as defined by FDCPA § 1692a(6), a “person” as defined by FCRA  § 1681a(b) and a "debt management company" as defined by A.R.S. § 6-704.
20. Upon information and belief, defendant TOM WELLS was employed by AMERICAN AGENCIES and is a "debt collector" as defined by FDCPA §1692a(6) and a "debt management company" as defined by A.R.S. §6-704.
21. Upon information and belief, defendant PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY SYSTEMS (hereafter “PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY”) maintains a principal place of business in San Jose, CA and is a "debt collector" as defined by FDCPA § 1692a(6), a “person” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b) and a "debt management company" as defined by A.R.S. § 6-704.
22. Upon information and belief, defendant PACIFIC BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY (hereafter “PACIFIC BELL”) maintains headquarters in San Francisco, CA.

23. Upon information and belief, defendant VERIZON WIRELESS, fka GTE WIRELESS, (hereafter "VERIZON) maintains headquarters in Bedminster, NJ.

24. Upon information and belief, defendant T-MOBILE USA (hereafter "T-MOBILE") maintains headquarters in Bellevue, WA and is a “person” as defined by FCRA 

§ 1681a(b).

25. Upon information and belief, defendant NELNET CORPORATION (hereafter "NELNET") maintains headquarters in Lincoln, NE, and is a “person” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).

26. Upon information and belief, defendant HOUSEHOLD maintains headquarters in Prospect Heights, IL, and is a person as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).

27. Upon information and belief, defendant ROBERT GRAY, a.k.a. BOBBY GRANTHAM (hereafter "ROBERT GRAY") resides in Las Vegas, NV, and is a “person” as defined by FCRA §1681a(b).

28. Upon information and belief, defendant FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION (hereafter "FTC") maintains offices in Washington, D.C. and is the regulatory agency for credit reporting agencies (hereafter “CRAs) as per FCRA § 1681s(a) and the regulatory agency for AMERICAN AGENCIES and PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY as per FDCPA § 1692l(a).

29. Upon information and belief, defendant FEDERAL RESERVE BANK OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA (hereafter FRB RICHMOND) maintains offices in Richmond, VA, and is the regulatory agency for CAPITAL ONE as per FCRA

§ 1681s(b)(1)(B).

30. Upon information and belief, defendant JAMES MCAFEE is Senior Vice President and General Counsel for FRB RICHMOND.

31. Upon information and belief, defendant FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION (hereafter FCC) maintains offices in Richmond, VA and is the regulatory agency for PACIFIC BELL, T-MOBILE and VERIZON as per the FCBA.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

32. In 1996, plaintiff filed for bankruptcy, in part because she could no longer obtain mortgage approvals for her mostly minority and/or low income first-time buyer clients due to minimum credit score requirements by FNMA and FHLMC. Additionally, her creditors kept raising the interest rates due to business related credit inquiries and possibly incorrectly calculated balance/limit ratios and other bugs in credit scoring software.

33. As an experienced real estate and mortgage broker, plaintiff was very aware of the importance of positive accounts and the devastating impact of any new derogatory entries on her credit reports after the bankruptcy. She also knew that the reporting of a collection after the bankruptcy would destroy her credit rating and prevent her from refinancing her home near San Francisco. After her bankruptcy was discharged, plaintiff disputed numerous incorrectly reported accounts with all CRAs.

34. During 1999 and most of 2000, plaintiff traveled full-time and she then established her base in the Arizona desert. The US Postal Service does not deliver to plaintiff’s address. Plaintiff, like millions of residents of rural America, has a choice of using a rural mailbox miles from her house and subjecting herself to mail and identity theft, or having important mail sent to a private or post office box.  Due to the postal service inability to forward mail when plaintiff travels, plaintiff has most mail sent to a private mailbox.  Plaintiff pays her bills online and conducts her business via e-mail and fax. Plaintiff often does not receive mailings sent via postal service for weeks and sometimes months.

FAIR ISAAC, THOMAS G. GRUDNOWSKI, THOMAS J. QUINN,
BARRY PAPERNO AND FTC

35. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.

36. FAIR ISAAC is the developer of FICO credit scores, used in over 75% of all credit approvals or declines. FAIR ISAAC is also extensively marketing the sale of their credit scores to consumers. According to FAIR ISAAC, over two million people have purchased their products since March of 2001. The cost of one credit report with a score is currently $12.95.

37. At their web site myfico.com, FAIR ISAAC displayed on 2/6/03 how mortgage rates relate directly to their credit scores: 

720-850 5.773% 

700-719 5.898% 

675-699 6.435% 

620-674 7.585% 

560-619 8.267% 

500-559 8.689%

38. Upon information and belief, FNMA and FHLMC mortgages, as well as almost all other low rate mortgage programs with the exception of FHA and VA require minimum FAIR ISAAC credit scores for approval.

39. Upon information and belief, most auto loans and credit cards are rated according to FAIR ISAAC credit scores.

40. Plaintiff has been requesting information about the data utilized in FAIR ISAAC credit scores since at least 1995.

41. Since 1997, plaintiff has been publishing the “FICO Credit Scoring is Fraud!” web page at http://www.bayhouse.com/FICOisFRAUD.shtml. The scanned credit reports document how FAIR ISAAC credit scores can change up to 24 points within just a few days and with no changes on the credit reports.

42. Upon information and belief, THOMAS G. GRUDNOWSKI, THOMAS J. QUINN, and BARRY PAPERNO were aware of this publication, and they never objected.

43. In November 1998, plaintiff had extensive communications with BARRY PAPERNO regarding her published recommendations for improving FAIR ISAAC credit scores.

44. BARRY PAPERNO failed to advise plaintiff that insurance credit inquiries were ignored by their credit scoring software and he confirmed that payment of collections and charge-offs did not increase credit scores. Plaintiff discovered that this is often not true.

45. In April 2000, plaintiff e-mailed to BARRY PAPERNO the draft of the update to her published credit scoring recommendations. Excerpt:

“So all the auto and mortgage inquiries in the last 30 days are ignored, but the cell phone credit check + the department store inquiry + the insurance credit check give you 3 inquiries in the last 30 days.”

46. In the subsequent e-mail exchanges, BARRY PAPERNO again failed to point out that insurance inquiries are ignored by FAIR ISAAC credit scoring formulas.

47. Plaintiff and many of her readers subsequently did not shop for lower insurance rates.

48. Another excerpt from her e-mail to BARRY PAPERNO:

“I was also able to confirm that you will NOT improve your Scores by paying collections and charge offs. And it makes little difference whether you have one or more collections.  And of course, a collection last month lowers your Score much more than a collection 5 years ago (provided the correct date is reported on the credit report by the collection agency.)”

BARRY PAPERNO failed to inform plaintiff that this is not correct.

49. Plaintiff also published bizarre credit reporting at her credit forum, such as CAPITAL ONE reporting a “current balance” higher than the “most owed” (or “high credit”, depending on the CRA) amount for reader Erik. Plaintiff discussed the scoring of this account with BARRY PAPERNO and he assured her that the “over limit” balance would be excluded from FAIR ISAAC’s scoring calculations. He failed to mention that the account balance and the amount reported as “most owed” are included in the FAIR ISAAC balance/limit ratio.  If CAPITAL ONE was the only revolving account, Erik's balance/limit ratio was OVER 100% and his score was substantially lowered by the balance/limit ratio.

50. Upon information and belief, and as published at http://bayhouse.com/discus/messages/1231/1032.html, Erik submitted his complaint to the FTC on or about January 16, 2001. Excerpt:

“I'm deeply concerned that Capital One and some other credit card companies have a policy of not reporting credit limits. The CRAs should not be allowing this either. It is an illegal practice that is harming hundreds of thousands of consumers in the United States. I ask that you enforce the FCRA to stop this practice.”

51. Upon information and belief, the FTC responded:

“Re: FTC Ref. No. 1227099 
Dear Erik:
This is in response to your complaint concerning your credit report. While the FTC does not collect or keep credit records on individual consumers, it is responsible for making sure that credit bureaus report accurate and up-to-date information. We have enclosed a brochure that addresses your concerns. Between the brochure and this letter we hope to be able to answer all of your questions.”

52. Upon information and belief, the FTC did nothing in response to this complaint except to send completely unrelated brochures to Erik.

53. Upon information and belief, the FTC ignored the second complaint, CAPITAL ONE stated that they DO report the credit limits, and EXPERIAN claimed that the missing credit limit is not a violation of the FCRA.

54. The FTC failure to take action contributed greatly to plaintiff’s subsequent damages.

55. On or about April 7, 2001, BARRY PAPERNO admitted to plaintiff that FAIR ISAAC was using the amount reported as “high credit” instead of a missing “credit limit” to calculate the balance/limit ratio.

56. On or about August 24, 2001, plaintiff sent a letter to THOMAS G. GRUDNOWSKI through Planetfeedback.com, inquiring about the scoring of student loans and the effect of balances higher than the original loan amount due to deferment and accrued interest.  

57. Planetfeedback.com (hereafter “PFB”) is a web site allowing consumers to submit their complaints, questions or compliments about most major companies. PFB forwards the letter to the company’s CEO or to the person designated to handle consumer correspondence. Many companies make special efforts to resolve complaints submitted through PFB, because consumers can “share” their letters, allowing PFB to publish those letters and the subsequent results at their web site. PFB also allows consumers to send copies of their letters to elected officials and plaintiff had PFB copy her credit reporting and credit scoring complaints to Senators John McCain and Jon Kyl of Arizona.

58. On August 31, 2001, plaintiff sent two letters to FAIR ISAAC through PFB, inquiring about the use of personal data such as addresses and inquiring which date FAIR ISAAC used to age charge-offs.  FAIR ISAAC ignored the letters.

59. On October 24, 2001, plaintiff filed her small claims complaint against FAIR ISAAC in Kingman, AZ, Justice Court.  Plaintiff dismissed without prejudice on 12/10/01.

60. THOMAS J. QUINN, Director, Client Support, responded in his letter to plaintiff dated 11/19/01:

“When viewing a collection agency item, the models look at the date the collection account was opened.”

61. Upon information and belief, PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY reported the disputed PACIFIC BELL collection as opened in 4/99 on plaintiff’s TRANS UNION report and AMERICAN AGENCIES reported the collection as opened in 7/2000 to EXPERIAN.  The actual date of original delinquency was 11/96 and the date reported to the CRAs was 11/97.

62. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software calculated a score not at all representing plaintiff’s true credit risk, causing numerous declines and lost opportunities.
63. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software lowers the credit scores for all consumers whose collections are reassigned or sold, utilizing the date a collection account is opened with a collector instead of the date of the original delinquency, required to be reported to the CRAs by all credit data furnishers as per FCRA § 1681c(c)1.
64. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software lowered plaintiff’s credit scores when CRAs verified incorrect data due to a creditor’s response and subsequently a newer date was reported with the account.

65. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software lowered plaintiff’s credit scores when:

a) Wholesale lenders ran her credit while she operated her mortgage brokerage.

b) Plaintiff ordered any services for her business requiring credit checks.

c) Plaintiff applied for cell phone service or a bank account.

d) Plaintiff applied for utilities and telephone service upon moving.

e) Plaintiff applied for any type of financing to get a rate quote.

66. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software may have lowered plaintiff’s credit scores when collectors ran her credit, attempting to collect the disputed PACIFIC BELL collection.

67. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software may have lowered plaintiff’s credit scores due to incidental credit inquiries when she rented a car, movie or anything else and when she paid for merchandise with a check.

68. Upon information and belief, one credit inquiry can lower the FAIR ISAAC scores up to 35 points and multiple inquiries within the last 12 months from the score date can lower the scores up to 115 points.

69. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software lowered plaintiff’s credit scores when several creditors violated the 1996 discharge order and they continued to attempt to collect the discharged balances.

70. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software lowered plaintiff’s credit scores for the accounts reported as “included in bankruptcy” in addition to the rating of the public record of the bankruptcy filing.

71. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software rated accounts reported as “reaffirmed” after bankruptcy as currently delinquent, even when the account was never paid late.

72. Upon information and belief, plaintiff cannot apply for employment without risking lower FAIR ISAAC credit scores due to incidental credit checks.

73. Upon information and belief, plaintiff may now be subjected to credit score lowering inquiries prior to boarding an airplane.

74. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC substituted the amount reported as “high credit” for the “credit limit” (willfully omitted by CAPITAL ONE and others) to calculate plaintiff’s balance/limit ratio, lowering her credit scores.

75. THOMAS J. QUINN wrote in his final letter to plaintiff, dated 12/28/2001, that the CRAs and not FAIR ISAAC score plaintiff’s credit reports and that he would not engage in any further communications with plaintiff. 

76. Plaintiff subsequently requested that the CRAs not utilize FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software with her credit files, but they failed to comply with her requests. 

PACIFIC BELL, AMERICAN AGENCIES, TOM WELLS, 

PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY AND FTC

77. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.

78. In October 1996, plaintiff paid her PACIFIC BELL telephone bill with a Home Savings of America check for $127.36, deposited by PACIFIC BELL into their Bank of America account in San Francisco on November 1, 1996. Home Savings printed this check and it contained plaintiff's full 10-digit phone number and the address.

79. When the payment was not credited on the subsequent phone bill, plaintiff called PACIFIC BELL billing and she was advised that they did not receive her check.

80. Plaintiff ordered the cancelled check from Home Savings. Throughout 1997, plaintiff called PACIFIC BELL billing numerous times, often being on hold over 30 minutes, and she submitted the cancelled check several times.  PACIFIC BELL promised an investigation, but not once did they get back to plaintiff.  Every month they assessed late charges for this paid bill.

81. In November 1997, plaintiff discontinued phone service with PACIFIC BELL and did not pay the final bill.

82. PACIFIC BELL assigned the account for collection to Bay Area Credit Services in San Jose, CA.

83. On or about February 7, 1998, Bay Area Credit Services received plaintiff's certified mailing with the cancelled check.  The dispute and the cancelled check were again ignored.  When plaintiff called, she was informed that a cancelled check was "not good enough."

84. In June 1998, after numerous faxed disputes were ignored, plaintiff drove to the office of Bay Area Credit Services.  She was almost arrested when she became very upset after manager Riley Goodhart refused to put in writing his statement that plaintiff's cancelled check was not proof of payment. Rather than ending up in jail or losing her home in foreclosure due to her inability to refinance with this bogus collection on her credit, plaintiff decided to sell her home. In November 1998 escrow closed, plaintiff gave up on being a productive member of society, sold most of her belongings, and went camping.

85. On June 23, 2001, plaintiff ordered a tri-merged credit report online from CONSUMERINFO.COM and TRANS UNION and EXPERIAN were reporting a collection from Bureau of Commercial, collecting for PACIFIC BELL.  

86. On or about August 8, 2001, plaintiff mailed her disputes of several incorrectly reported accounts including Bureau of Commercial to TRANS UNION.

87. CEDITDATA SW provided plaintiff with a new EXPERIAN consumer disclosure in response to plaintiff’s 8/8/01 dispute on September 10, 2001 and Bureau of Commercial was not on the report.  However, AMERICAN AGENCIES was reporting the disputed PACIFIC BELL collection.

88. On October 10, 2001, TRANS UNION verified the PACIFIC BELL collection with George at PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY. 

89. Upon information and belief, PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY had plaintiff’s correct address, but failed to inform her that they were attempting to collect this debt and had not informed plaintiff of her right to dispute the collection.

90. Upon information and belief, PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY had no actual file or documentation for the account, and George had informed TRANS UNION that PACIFIC BELL had requested the transfer to AMERICAN AGENCIES and that he did not have the date of the transfer.

91. TRANS UNION continued to report this collection on plaintiff’s credit.

92. Plaintiff does not understand why the CONSUMERINFO.COM tri-merged 6/23/01 report stated that EXPERIAN and TRANS UNION reported a PACIFIC BELL collection from Bureau of Commercial.

93. The TRANS UNION consumer disclosure dated 11/6/01 stated that the PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY collection was “verified, no change.” However, the consumer disclosure dated 9/27/01 reported the collection:
 “BALANCE: $215” and “STATUS AS OF 7/1999: COLLECTION ACCOUNT.” The consumer disclosure dated 11/06/01 reported the collection:
“TRANSFER”, “BALANCE: $0” and “STATUS AS OF 11/2001: COLLECTION ACCOUNT.”
94. Upon information and belief, PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY informed TRANS UNION on 10/10/01 that the collection was transferred to AMERICAN AGENCIES at an unknown date.  TRANS UNION decided to report the account as “STATUS AS OF 11/2001: COLLECTION ACCOUNT” without having any knowledge of the status of this collection in 11/01. 
95. Upon information and belief, the newer and incorrect status date reported by TRANS UNION as of 11/01 may have lowered plaintiff’s FICO scores.
96. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION also reported that the collection was “VERIF’D 11/2001” and their Initial Disclosures dated 1/31/02 do not mention any further communications with PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY after 10/10/01.
97. On or about December 10, 2001, plaintiff called AMERICAN AGENCIES and spoke with Ms. Martin, who refused plaintiff's dispute and refused to provide a fax number. Plaintiff later spoke with supervisor Ms. Temple, who finally provided a fax number.

98. On or about December 10, 2001, plaintiff faxed her dispute to AMERICAN AGENCIES, but her dispute and notice of plaintiff's Arizona address were ignored.

99. On or about December 10, 2001, plaintiff disputed the collection with EXPERIAN:  

"This collection is NOT a valid debt -- please delete." 

100. On or about January 24, 2002, plaintiff sent another dispute and her intent to sue to AMERICAN AGENCIES and subsequently received a call from their Office Manager Assistant Ms. Graves.  She demanded payment despite plaintiff's disputes and notice of Arizona State licensing requirements, refused to accept plaintiff's cancelled check, demanded that plaintiff dispute with PACIFIC BELL, but did not provide any contact information for PACIFIC BELL.

101. On or about January 28, 2002, plaintiff faxed a call summary and settlement offer to Ms. Graves and no response was received.

102. On January 31, 2002, plaintiff filed a small claims complaint against AMERICAN AGENCIES in Kingman, AZ, Justice Court.

103. On January 31, 2002, plaintiff filed a small claims complaint against PACIFIC BELL in Kingman, AZ, Justice Court.  PACIFIC BELL did not answer, but requested dismissal for improper venue on April 10, 2002, granted on May 24th, 2002.

104. Upon information and belief, AMERICAN AGENCIES obtained plaintiff's EXPERIAN credit report twice without a permissible purpose on February 1, 2002.

105. Upon information and belief, AMERICAN AGENCIES was served with the small claims complaint on February 2, 2002.

106. On or about February 7, 2002, TRANS UNION attorney Ms. Lewis informed plaintiff that they verified the PACIFIC BELL collection with PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY as "transferred."

107. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION had failed to promptly notify plaintiff of the investigation results as required by the FCRA.

108. Ms. Lewis stated that the account would be reported for 7 years from 4/99, the date the collection was placed with PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY. After plaintiff accused TRANS UNION of re-aging accounts in violation of the FCRA, Ms. Lewis discovered upon further research that according to an internal "purge date," the account was aged as of 11/97. This date is extremely critical data and was NOT disclosed to plaintiff on any TRANS UNION consumer disclosures.

109. Upon information and belief, AMERICAN AGENCIES obtained plaintiff's EXPERIAN credit report again without a permissible purpose on February 11, 2002.

110. On or about February 18, 2002, plaintiff disputed the PACIFIC BELL collection with PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY.

111. On or about March 15, 2002, plaintiff started calling the AMERICAN AGENCIES legal department to find you why they didn't answer her small claims complaint, as the 20 days to answer had long expired.

112. On or about March 20, 2002, plaintiff explained her dispute in great detail to Tom Wells in the AMERICAN AGENCIES legal department.  He subsequently claimed to validate this collection by faxing 19 pages to plaintiff, the final bills from October to November 1997, and he continued to collect.

113. On or about April 16, 2002, Ms. Lewis advised plaintiff that PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY deleted the account.

114. On or about May 8, 2002, Anna Wilson with PACIFIC BELL Customer Relations in Arlington, TX, called plaintiff to inform her that PACIFIC BELL sold the disputed account to AMERICAN AGENCIES.  Ms. Wilson refused to provide any further information and denied plaintiff's request for a written statement. PACIFIC BELL sold this debt knowing that it was not valid.

115. On August 21, 2002, AMERICAN AGENCIES failed to attend the Court ordered mediation hearing and plaintiff subsequently dismissed her complaint without prejudice.

116. On or about September 15, 2002, plaintiff filed a complaint with the FTC about AMERICAN AGENCIES’ collection and business practices. 

117. Upon information and belief, the FTC sent plaintiff a brochure and did nothing else.

TRANS UNION AND HARRY GAMBILL
118. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
119. In summer of 2001, plaintiff was unable to reach TRANS UNION on the phone after 3:30 PM and the TRANS UNION announcements advised that they were closed.

120. On or about August 8, 2001, plaintiff mailed her disputes of several incorrectly reported accounts to TRANS UNION. Plaintiff included the June 23, 2001 tri-merged credit report from CONSUMERINFO.COM with her disputes.
121. Plaintiff disputed the PACIFIC BELL collection, the Fleet and AFSCI accounts reported incorrectly with delinquent balances, and the Washington Mutual and Sears accounts, both reported as “unrated” by CONSUMERINFO.COM.

122. On or about August 10, 2001, plaintiff submitted her request for complete consumer disclosures to TRANS UNION President HARRY GAMBILL through PFB, reference # 949262. Plaintiff also faxed a copy to the FTC, and PFB sent copies to Senators John McCain and Jon Kyl of Arizona. 

123. On or about September 3, 2001, plaintiff faxed to the TRANS UNION legal department after her order of the online consumer disclosure was declined. Excerpt:

“Please assign me a user changeable PIN so that you CAN confirm my identity. In the meantime, please fax my credit report to 571-222-1000. 
It can take months for me to receive my snail mail, and it is NOT secure. Numerous people have access to my snail mail, so please do NOT send any personal data such as my SSN and credit reports to my address. 

No reply was received.

124. In September 2001, plaintiff received the TRANS UNION notice dated 8/20/01, requesting that plaintiff mail copies of her driver's license and social security card to "assist our investigation."
125. The TRANS UNION request contained no fax or telephone number, no e-mail address or any other means to contact them other than their mailing address.
126. Plaintiff had requested investigation of the disputed accounts, not a consumer disclosure, and no ID verification was necessary.
127. After plaintiff’s decline by Generations Bank on 9/6/01 and because she had not received any notification of investigation or any results, plaintiff filed her small claims complaint against TRANS UNION on 9/26/01 in the Kingman, AZ, Justice Court.
128. On or about October 17, 2001, plaintiff discussed her complaint with Amanda Lewis (fka Amanda Stamps), attorney with Strasburger & Price, LLP, representing TRANS UNION.  Ms. Lewis promised immediate investigation of plaintiff’s disputes. The TRANS UNION Answer and Request for Removal of the small claims case to the Civil Division were filed that same day.  Plaintiff did not receive any investigation notice or results.
129. On or about January 4, 2002, plaintiff submitted her request for complete consumer disclosures to TRANS UNION President HARRY GAMBILL through PFB, reference # 1190615. Excerpt:

“The Trans Union credit reports are the worst of the lot. You refuse to include the dates of reported late payments, and you refuse to investigate my disputes - in violation of the FCRA. 
I no longer want my Trans Union credit report scored by Fair, Isaac's software -- as the score depends on the data in the underlying credit report.”

Plaintiff also faxed a copy to the FTC and PFB sent copies to Senators John McCain and Jon Kyl of Arizona. 

130. Plaintiff did not receive any communications from TRANS UNION until February 2002, when plaintiff received the TRANS UNION Initial Disclosures and the 116 documents TU00001 - TU00116. 
131. TRANS UNION claimed that they requested plaintiff’s driver’s license and social security card because an additional file was coming up when her name and address were entered to access her credit file.
132. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION assigned identical file numbers to both files.

133. Upon information and belief, and as per TU00023, TRANS UNION discovered the additional file no later than 8/18/01 and failed to notify plaintiff of the problem. Instead, TRANS UNION requested copies of plaintiff’s driver’s license and social security card.

134. TRANS UNION documents TU00001 to TU00003, dated 10/10/01, contain creditor and other addresses and a statement that plaintiff requested these addresses. 

135. TRANS UNION documents TU00004 and TU00005 contain more addresses, and a statement claiming that plaintiff requested those addresses. 

136. Plaintiff does not recall requesting any addresses or receiving those addresses prior to the Initial Disclosures.

137. Identical TRANS UNION file numbers are shown on those documents and different creditor addresses are listed, plaintiff cannot determine what those documents are.

138. Document TU00006 is a “History Search Summary” and shows an address for plaintiff at “880418 POB 880418, San Francisco.”  Plaintiff never lived at that address, but utilized several bill payment services to ensure timely payment of her bills while travelling and it may be one of their addresses.

139. According to TRANS UNION document TU00009, plaintiff’s small claims complaint was received on 10/8/01. Plaintiff had mailed the complaint on 9/26/01, but the Domestic Return Receipt has no date of delivery.

140. The TRANS UNION consumer disclosure dated 3/9/01, TU00011, shows the incorrect San Francisco address for plaintiff. 

141. Upon information and belief, this consumer disclosure was sent to this incorrect address and plaintiff did not receive it.

142. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION reports any billing address reported by a creditor as the consumer’s address.

143. The TRANS UNION reporting of incorrect addresses results in the mailing of promotional offers, collection letters and even consumer disclosures to those incorrect addresses, possibly resulting in identity theft, lost opportunities and important notifications not being received.

144. After plaintiff was declined credit by Generations Bank, she made a copy of the adverse action letter and sent it to TRANS UNION (TU00025), requesting her free credit report.

145. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION printed the consumer disclosure dated 9/27/01 and added it to her file, but did not mail it to plaintiff until 1/31/02.

146. Upon information and belief, the disputed Fleet account had been aged off the report.

147. Upon information and belief, Home Savings and Sears were reported correctly by TRANS UNION on the consumer disclosures dated 3/9/01 and 9/27/01.

148. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION documents TU00043 to TU00072 relate to the investigations of all derogatory accounts on plaintiff’s credit report.

149. Many of these documents, sent by TRANS UNION to plaintiff’s creditors, state that plaintiff claimed that the accounts were reported inaccurately, while in fact plaintiff had not disputed those accounts.

150. TRANS UNION document TU00069 relates to the telephone verification of the JC Penney account and it states “0 Bal open acct.”

151. Document TU00070 is a printout relating to the JC Penney account, listing a 10/8/01 date and “** CLOSED DISPUTE **” and “** CHANGED **” and “STATUS: CL”.  Plaintiff does not know whether the “status” pertains to the investigation or the account.

152. TRANS UNION reports the JC Penney account as open on plaintiff’s first file, TU00085, dated 11/6/01.  On plaintiff’s second file, TU00090, also dated 11/6/01, the JC Penney account is reported as “VERIF’D 10/2001” and “PAID OR PAYING AS AGREED” and “CLOSED.”

153. TRANS UNION document TU00091 is a “** CORRECTION **” and changes the first name from “Christian” to “Christine.”

154. On the next TRANS UNION consumer disclosure for the second file, TU00099, the only change appears to be plaintiff’s corrected name.

155. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION then merged the files, as both JC Penney accounts are now on plaintiff’s first file, TU00103. The account numbers are identical except for the last 3 digits missing for one account.

156. TRANS UNION document TU00108 appears to be related to the JC Penney investigation, has a 10/18/01 date and plaintiff can’t find a “closed” notation.

157. TRANS UNION document TU00109 is a form titled “telephone verification” dated 11/7/01 and handwritten remarks state: “$800 available credit. * Verified through automated system.”

158. One last consumer disclosure is included with the Initial Disclosures and on document TU00112, TRANS UNION again reports both JC Penney accounts, reporting the account from the merged file as “CLOSED”, “OPENED 1/88”, “UPDATED 11/2001” and “IN PRIOR 30 MONTHS FROM LAST UPDATE NEVER LATE.” 

159. Not only was the account NOT closed, but it is also not correct that plaintiff had any late payments prior to 30 months prior to 11/2001.  Plaintiff has never had any late payments with JC Penney. 

160. The TRANS UNION consumer disclosure implies that plaintiff had late payments prior to 30 months prior to 11/2001.

161. Plaintiff’s JC Penney account was also reported to the other CRAs and plaintiff is not aware of any duplicate files with the other CRAs and it was reported as open.

162. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION did nothing to merge the two files until 11/6/01, almost 3 months after they had received plaintiff’s disputes and became aware of the problem and a month after receipt of plaintiff’s small claims complaint.

163. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION only merged the files because plaintiff filed her small claims complaint.

164. Upon information and belief, plaintiff’s driver’s license and social security card would not have assisted with any investigation.  

165. Upon information and belief, the only difference in the two files was that plaintiff’s first name was misspelled as “Christian” on the second file.

166. All accounts disputed by plaintiff on 8/8/01 were on plaintiff’s first file.

167. Plaintiff had included her CONSUMERINFO.COM tri-merged report with the first name “Christine” with her 8/8/01 dispute.

168. Upon information and belief, it is more cost effective for TRANS UNION to ignore duplicate or split files than it is to merge the files.

169. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION frequently refuses disputes and requires copies of driver’s licenses and social security cards.

170. Upon information and belief, it is more cost effective for TRANS UNION to refuse consumer disputes and to send out the form letter demanding copies of driver’s licenses and social security cards than it is to investigate consumer disputes.

171. Upon information and belief, the value of TRANS UNION credit files increases with the addition of current driver’s license numbers.

172. No provision of the FCRA or any law limits the right to dispute inaccurate credit data to consumers with social security cards and driver’s licenses. 

173. Upon information and belief, millions of American citizens do not have driver’s licenses or social security cards, and millions of illegal aliens have credit reports, use and need credit, but don’t have social security cards and in some states cannot even get drivers licenses.

174. Some of plaintiff’s accounts are reported by TRANS UNION only with the notation: “PAID OR PAYING AS AGREED.”  But many accounts have notations such as: “In prior ... months from ... never late.”  The number of months varies greatly, but never exceeds 48 months despite many accounts being much older.  Rarely is the number of months identical to the number of months the account has been open.  The “from” date changes from “date closed” to “last update” to “date paid.”

175. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION intentionally and maliciously turns the simple reporting of an account with no late payments into the reporting of incomprehensible nonsense and inaccurate credit reporting.

176. Trying to compare a TRANS UNION disputed report and the investigation results 5 or 6 weeks later is an extremely difficult task for a consumer with many accounts. The account order changes all the time, according to when accounts were updated due to investigations by TRANS UNION as well as due to some creditors’ periodic updates.

177. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION intentionally and maliciously produces consumer disclosures in ALL CAPS, lists accounts in the order of  “last updated” instead of alphabetical and includes bizarre notations, making it as difficult as possible to read and understand the TRANS UNION consumer disclosures and to minimize consumer disputes.

178. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION consumer disclosures are so confusing and so hard to read that TRANS UNION never noticed that they reported the JC Penney account twice on plaintiff’s credit file after they merged her files.

179. On April 18, 2002, plaintiff dismissed the Justice Court case without prejudice.
180. On or about September 4, 2002, plaintiff sent another fax to TRANS UNION. Excerpt:

“I just tried to order my Trans Union credit report at your web site and got this message: "Your Identity Cannot Be Confirmed" The complete message is attached below for your reference. Please assign me a user changeable PIN so that you CAN confirm my identity. In the meantime, please fax my credit report to 571-222-1000. It can take months for me to receive my snail mail, and it is NOT secure. Numerous people have access to my snail mail, so please do NOT send any personal data such as my SSN and credit reports to my address.”

181. Several weeks later, plaintiff received another TRANS UNION credit report dated 9/17/02 via unsecure postal service.

182. Plaintiff not only provided the identical information at the TRANS UNION web site as in the fax, but also provided her credit card number to purchase the online consumer disclosure.

183. Verifying the name and address for the credit card in combination with plaintiff’s input of her personal data is sufficient identification for the other CRAs and credit resellers.

184. In August 2002, plaintiff discovered that her JC Penney account had been restricted, resulting in the decline of charges.  According to JC Penney, the account had been restricted since October 2001. 

185. Upon information and belief, TRANS UNION conducted their investigation of plaintiff’s JC Penney account in October 2001 and plaintiff is not aware of any other reason why JC Penny could have restricted her account.

186. On or about October 3, 2002, plaintiff faxed the 9/4/02 fax again to TRANS UNION, disputed that the JC Penny account was reported incorrectly as closed and asked what TRANS UNION told JC Penney to cause the restriction of the account.

187. In that same fax plaintiff also asked why TRANS UNION was reporting all CAPITAL ONE accounts without the credit limits in violation of the FCRA and requested that TRANS UNION immediately add the limits for ALL revolving accounts to her report.

188. In December 2002, plaintiff received the TRANS UNION reply dated 10/10/02 and the consumer disclosure dated 11/5/02, both snail mailed to her Cottonwood address.  Excerpt from the TRANS UNION response to her 10/3/02 fax:

“To discuss your specific questions or concerns with a consumer relations representative, you may contact our office by telephone at 1-800-916-8800 between the hours of 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M. Monday through Friday.”

189. According to the November 11, 2002 TRANS UNION consumer disclosure, the investigation of the CAPITAL ONE accounts resulted in “VERIFIED, NO CHANGE” and “NEW INFORMATION BELOW.” Plaintiff is unable to detect the new information and both accounts do not report the credit limit.

190. The investigation results also state that TRANS UNION deleted the JC Penney account. Apparently, both JC Penney accounts were deleted instead of corrected.

191. Upon information and belief, the JC Penney account is plaintiff’s oldest open account and the deletion of this account lowers plaintiff’s credit scores.

192. On or about December 22, 2002, plaintiff sent another fax to TRANS UNION, requesting that they provide the investigation procedures for the CAPITAL ONE investigations.  Plaintiff also requested again that they not snail mail reports, that they provide plaintiff with a user changeable PIN, and that they delete plaintiff’s credit file if they did not want to comply with her requests.

193. In late December 2002, plaintiff received another TRANS UNION consumer disclosure with investigation results dated 11/27/02. Both open CAPITAL ONE accounts had been deleted.

194. Plaintiff does not understand why TRANS UNION verified the CAPITAL ONE accounts on 11/5/02 and then deleted on 11/27/02.

195. Plaintiff noticed that TRANS UNION deleted much of her old and excellent account history in 2002, seriously lowering plaintiff’s credit scores.

196. On numerous occasions plaintiff had tried to call TRANS UNION and was unable to reach a customer service representative because she didn’t have her TRANS UNION file number as that number is not on resold or mortgage credit reports.
197. On numerous occasions plaintiff entered the required TRANS UNION file number into their telephone system, but she was declined assistance almost every time as her file was handled by the “Priority Department.”
198. Upon information and belief, the TRANS UNION Priority Department requires that consumers leave a phone number on their voicemail and calls are returned at TRANS UNION’s convenience. The consumers’ phone numbers may be added to the credit reports.
199. As it is inconvenient for plaintiff to have TRANS UNION interrupt her while she is working, she can’t sit by her phone for hours, days or weeks and she has no phone while travelling, she did not leave her number.

200. On or about February 17, 2003, plaintiff called TRANS UNION to discuss the CAPITAL ONE accounts.  Plaintiff was informed by an announcement that the call was recorded. Plaintiff also recorded the approximately 50 minutes it took to find out that plaintiff’s CAPITAL ONE accounts were deleted on 11/2/02 by CAPITAL ONE as a result of plaintiff’s request to have the credit limit added.

201. Plaintiff does not understand why TRANS UNION reported the CAPITAL ONE accounts as “verified” on 11/5/02 and “deleted” on 11/27/02 in the written notifications, but according to this call the accounts were deleted on 11/2/02.

202. During this call, plaintiff spoke to Hassim at the front desk and he was less than helpful. Hassim refused to provide his last name or employee ID number, and he claimed that he had no supervisor. When plaintiff requested to be transferred to a person and NOT to a voicemail, he suggested that they had gone home. Plaintiff asked whether TRANS UNION closes at 4 PM and he replied he didn’t know.  Plaintiff asked him to find out, he replied that it was confidential TRANS UNION procedure.

203. It took about 50 minutes of arguing and calling back after transfers to voicemails to get to a customer service representative who offered to assist plaintiff at TRANS UNION.

204. On or about March 14, 2003, plaintiff received two TRANS UNION consumer disclosures, dated 2/17/03 and 2/18/03, again snail mailed to her Cottonwood address, despite her specific request not to mail the consumer disclosures.

EQUIFAX, THOMAS F. CHAPMAN, ROBERT GRAY AND NELNET

205. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
206. On or about August 8, 2001, plaintiff disputed the inaccurately reported as “included in bankruptcy” NELNET (Unipac - NEB) account with EQUIFAX. 

207. Plaintiff had taken extreme care to pay the NELNET account without incurring late payments despite her financial difficulties and subsequent bankruptcy in 1996, and plaintiff paid the account in full and as agreed.

208. In the 8/29/01 investigation results, EQUIFAX informed plaintiff that NELNET had verified the current status and the NELNET account continued to be reported as “included in bankruptcy.”

209. In response to plaintiff’s next online dispute, EQUIFAX wrote on 10/16/01:

“THIS ITEM HAS BEEN DELETED FROM THE CREDIT FILE.”

210. However, the credit file dated October 16, 2001 reports the account:

“CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

211. Upon information and belief, it is not uncommon for EQUIFAX to continue to report accounts they claim to have deleted and to continue to show accounts as disputed long after the 30-day investigation ended.
212. On or about January 4, 2002, plaintiff submitted her request for complete consumer disclosures to THOMAS F. CHAPMAN through PFB, reference # 1190639.  Plaintiff pointed out that the printable on-line reports were missing all dates for late payments and that EQUIFAX failed to disclose the account type and inquiry coding as utilized for FAIR ISAAC credit scores. Plaintiff requested that EQUIFAX not allow her credit file to be scored by FAIR ISAAC scoring software.

213. PFB sent copies to Senators John McCain and Jon Kyl of Arizona. To date, EQUIFAX online reports do not contain the dates for late payments and EQUIFAX does not disclose the purpose of inquiries.
214. On March 13, 2002, EQUIFAX wrote to plaintiff:

“Below are the results of your request for Equifax to reinvestigate certain elements of your Equifax credit file. Equifax contacted each source directly and our investigation is now completed.  Enclosed is an updated copy of your credit file.”

Below the statement is nothing but empty space.

215. The March 13, 2002, EQUIFAX consumer disclosure reported the NELNET account is reported as “included in bankruptcy” and with the notation:

 “CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

216. The April 22, 2002, EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the NELNET account has been researched and:

“EQUIFAX HAS VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REPORTED CORRECTLY.”

217. On the enclosed EQUIFAX consumer disclosure the NELNET account is reported as “included in bankruptcy” and with the notation:

“CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

218. The April 22, 2002, EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the PROVIDIAN account, reported twice with identical account numbers, had been researched and:

“EQUIFAX VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM BELONGS TO YOU.”

219. The May 21, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the NELNET account had been researched and:

“EQUIFAX HAS VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REPORTED CORRECTLY.”

220. On the enclosed EQUIFAX consumer disclosure the NELNET account was reported as “included in bankruptcy” and with the notation:

“CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

221. The May 21, 2002, EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the PROVIDIAN accounts, reported twice with identical account numbers, have been researched and:

“EQUIFAX HAS VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REPORTED CORRECTLY.”

222. On June 11, 2002, plaintiff discovered that EQUIFAX reported the PROVIDIAN discharged account twice as “Current status: Bad debt/collection” and “Installment charge-off.” 

223. Upon information and belief, plaintiff disputed the PROVIDIAN accounts online and they were then reported as “paid as agreed.”

224. On September 1, 2002, EQUIFAX reported one of plaintiff’s CAPITAL ONE account: “High Credit $3,316 - Balance $3,345” While it is mathematically impossible to have a balance higher than the “high credit,” or “most owed,” EQUIFAX reported exactly that.  The actual credit limit was $6,000.

225. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC calculated the balance/limit ratio for this account as 101%, while the actual ratio was 56%. 
226. On or about September 1, 2002, plaintiff disputed this CAPITAL ONE account with EQUIFAX online.

227. On or about September 3, 2002, plaintiff disputed her other CAPITAL ONE account with EQUIFAX online.

228. On or about September 4, 2002, plaintiff faxed her dispute of the NELNET account to EQUIFAX: 

“This account has been reported as disputed for MONTHS. Please immediately report it correctly: NOT included in bankruptcy, always paid as agreed.”

229. The September 22, 2002, EQUIFAX investigation results for the first CAPITAL ONE account stated:

“ADDITIONAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN PROVIDED FROM THE ORIGINAL SOURCE REGARDING THIS ITEM. SEE ENCLOSED CREDIT FILE.”

230. The enclosed EQUIFAX credit file incorrectly reported the CAPITAL ONE account: 

“High Credit $3,316 - Balance $4,817”
231. Upon information and belief, FAIR ISAAC calculated the balance/limit ratio for this account as 145%, while the actual ratio was 80%.
232. The September 24, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results of the second CAPITAL ONE account stated:

“ADDITIONAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN PROVIDED FROM THE ORIGINAL SOURCE REGARDING THIS ITEM. SEE ENCLOSED CREDIT FILE.”

233. The enclosed EQUIFAX credit file incorrectly reported the “High Credit $6,846” instead of the $7,500 limit.
234. The October 3, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the NELNET account had been deleted.

235. On or about November 3, 2002, plaintiff faxed to EQUIFAX, asking why they deleted her NELNET account and requested that EQUIFAX report the correct limits of $6,000 and $7,500 for the CAPITAL ONE accounts.
236. On or about November 28, 2002, plaintiff faxed to EQUIFAX her request description of their reinvestigation procedures: 

“How and when were the accounts investigated, and who provided the verification at Capital One?”
237. On or about December 21, 2002, plaintiff again faxed to EQUIFAX her request for the description of their reinvestigation procedures, and she requested that reports not be mailed via postal service, as it is not secure.

238. On January 18, 2003, ROBERT GRAY posted at plaintiff’s credit forum:

“Christine, Equifax told me that you have many AKA's.

239. ROBERT GRAY is notorious for his harassment of women on the internet and his credit scams. He is widely known as “Bobby” and uses several aliases and plaintiff does not know his legal name at this time.

240. ROBERT GRAY offered to report positive tradelines on consumer credit reports for a fee, for the purpose of establishing credit history and high limits to increase FAIR ISAAC credit scores. He posts ads for his scams at various credit forums.

241. In early 2001, plaintiff and her readers exposed the scam advertised by ROBERT GRAY at plaintiff’s BayHouse forum.  

242. Upon information and belief, he then harassed a reader, obtained her home phone number, called her repeatedly and let her know that he was only 7 blocks from her home.

243. Upon information and belief, the assistance of law enforcement agencies such as the FBI was requested, but nobody bothered to actually do anything.

244. ROBERT GRAY also targeted plaintiff, spammed her with literally thousands of e-mails, attacked her web server, posted defamatory statements about her at other web sites, and he published http://www.maxpages.com/whorebaker. Excerpt:
“CHRISTINE BAKER THE NIGGER WHORE 
YOU ARE A BIG FAT NIGGER WHORE. 

I AM GOING TO PUT YOU OUT OF BUSINESS YOU NIGGER BITCH I AM WATCHING YOU EVERYDAY. 

WE ARE GOING TO ROCK ALL THE WAY.”
245. Plaintiff eventually had this and several other similar pages shut down, requested the aide of law enforcement agencies, including the Kingman, AZ, Sheriff Department, and the description of their incompetence is beyond the scope of this complaint. 

246. Plaintiff is extremely concerned about the possibility that ROBERT GRAY could access her credit file, and even worse, that he could obtain her physical address or phone number.

247. EQUIFAX does not report an inquiry by ROBERT GRAY or his scam company catalogchargecard.com, but plaintiff also knows that EQUIFAX often deletes inquiries.

248. EQUIFAX has been experiencing serious system problems, resulting in credit files being split and tradelines and inquiries being deleted.

249. Throughout 2002, posters at internet credit boards have been recommending the EQUIFAX CreditWatch monitoring service because frequent consumer disclosure orders resulted in the deletion of score lowering inquiries. This technique is also supposed to work for TRANS UNION.

250. On or about January 25, 2003, plaintiff discovered that EQUIFAX was reporting a ZERO limit and high credit for both CAPITAL ONE accounts.

251. On or about January 30, 2003, plaintiff faxed to EQUIFAX:

“Who changed my credit limits to ZERO, WHEN and WHY????”

Plaintiff also asked why EQUIFAX ignored her previous 12/22/02 fax and attached it for reference.

252. In February 2002, plaintiff received the 1/24/03 EQUIFAX investigation results:

“THE HIGH CREDIT ON THIS ACCOUNT HAS BEEN UPDATED.”

The result was the ZERO limit reporting.

253. The EQUIFAX answer to plaintiff’s question why they had deleted the NELNET account:

“CURRENTLY THE NELNET ACCOUNT IS NOT REPORTING ON THE EQUIFAX CREDIT FILE.”

254. The next EQUIFAX investigation results were dated 1/31/03 and finally contained the correct credit limits for the CAPITAL ONE accounts.

255. EQUIFAX still does not report the limit for her Target store card.

256. Upon information and belief, EQUIFAX published a 1999 Position Paper titled: 
“The Importance of Reporting High Balance and Credit Limit Information.”
Excerpt:

“In November 1998, a large national bankcard issuer informed Equifax that it would stop reporting limit and high balance information.  In addition, within the six months, a few bankcard issuers have implemented or announced their intent to implement a policy of non-reporting of credit limit and high balance information. ...”

257. Upon information and belief, EQUIFAX was fully aware of the devastating impact on plaintiff’s credit scores of their refusal to report the CAPITAL ONE credit limits.

258. Upon information and belief, EQUIFAX does not report the CAPITAL ONE credit limits for any consumers and intentionally and maliciously inflicted tremendous damages on plaintiff and many millions of CAPITAL ONE customers.

259. Upon information and belief, EQUIFAX deleted many of plaintiff's old accounts from her credit file in 2002, lowering plaintiff’s credit scores.
EXPERIAN, CRAIG SMITH AND CREDITDATA SW

260. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
261. Plaintiff is aware that CREDITDATA SW is somehow affiliated with EXPERIAN and plaintiff submitted her 2001 disputes to CREDITDATA SW in Phoenix, AZ.  Once she had access to the EXPERIAN online reports in 2002, plaintiff submitted the disputes online or via fax to EXPERIAN directly.
262. Consumer disclosures provided by CREDITDATA SW contain the EXPERIAN logo, disclosures produced by EXPERIAN state that disputes are to be sent to CREDITDATA SW.
263. Plaintiff’s credit declines have been based on EXPERIAN credit reports.

264. Plaintiff has no knowledge about the EXPERIAN investigation procedures and does not know who investigated the disputes faxed to EXPERIAN or submitted online through the EXPERIAN (CreditExpert) web site.

265. Plaintiff called EXPERIAN in early 2001 and requested information on appointing a representative to review and monitor her credit reports and to communicate disputes to EXPERIAN. Plaintiff was informed that only an attorney could be appointed.

266. On or about May 12, 2001, plaintiff submitted her request to EXPERIAN through PFB, reference # 703458. Excerpt:

“Please send me the form required to authorize the person of my choice to dispute incorrect Experian credit reporting on my behalf and work with your staff via phone, fax and e-mail.”

PFB sent copies to Senators John McCain and Jon Kyl of Arizona.

267. On or about August 8, 2001, plaintiff disputed via postal service to CREDIT DATA SW numerous incorrectly reported accounts including the PACIFIC BELL collection with Bureau of Commercial and the Orchard charge-off. Many of the 1996 discharged accounts were again reporting delinquent balances.

268. The CAPITAL ONE account, discharged in 1996, was reported incorrectly:

“Date of status: 5/2000” and  “Status: Account charged off. $487 written off. $779 past due as of 4/2001.” and “Account history: Discharged Through BK Ch 7, 11, or 12  06/30/1996 to 04/15/2000” and “Recent balance: $779 as of 4/2001”

269. The CAPITAL ONE account should have been reported as:

“Date of status: 5/1996” and “Status: discharged through BK Ch. 7” 

And of course all balances should have been zero.

270. Plaintiff disputed the Union Bank account reporting: “Creditor’s statement: Account closed at credit grantor’s request.”  This was a credit line linked to her Union Bank checking account and it was closed when plaintiff closed her checking account. Plaintiff does not know how FAIR ISAAC rates this notation, but it certainly creates a negative impression upon manual review of plaintiff’s credit report.

271. The PROVIDIAN account was reported as: “Discharged Through BK Ch 7, 11, or 12  07/31/1996 to 04/30/2001”  Plaintiff did not dispute this notation because she thought that it did not matter as no balances were reported.

272. FAIR ISAAC may have included those incorrect dates and may have lowered plaintiff’s credit scores.

273. On or about August 31, 2001, plaintiff resubmitted her request for the procedures for representation to EXPERIAN through PFB, reference # 999542. Again, she was ignored.

274. The September 10, 2001 results of the investigation advised of the deletion of most disputed accounts, but now AMERICAN AGENCIES was reporting the PACIFIC BELL collection.

275. While the results stated that the CAPITAL ONE account “remains”, it was actually updated to show zero balances and was changed to report the following incorrect data:

“Date of status: 4/2001” “Status: Included in bankruptcy/Account charged off.” and “Account history: Charge Off as of 4-2001, 3-2001, 12-2000, 7-2000, 6-2000, 5-2000, 6-1996.  Discharged Through BK Ch 7, 11, or 12  04/30/2001 to 04/30/2001” and “This item was verified on 8-2001 and remained unchanged.”

276. Contrary to the CREDITDATA SW claim, there were many changes.

277. The “charge off” notations and the recent dates are incorrect.

278. Many of these changes such as the re-aging of the bankruptcy to more recent or current dates and the “charge off” notations could negatively impact on FAIR ISAAC scores and definitely impact negatively on a manual review of plaintiff’s credit.

279. Plaintiff’s bankruptcy was reported accurately as filed in 5/96 and discharged in 9/96 and if CREDITDATA SW personnel had taken just a few seconds to actually look at the report, they should have noticed their incorrect and bizarre reporting.

280. The Union Bank account was updated to read “Account closed at consumer’s request”, but CREDITDATA SW included a new notation:
“Status: 8-2001” and “Status: Paid $0 past due as of 8-2001.”

281. This incorrect notation indicates that plaintiff’s Union Bank account was delinquent and that she paid the delinquent balance in 8/2001. 

282. Plaintiff disputed AMERICAN AGENCIES as “not a valid debt” and Union Bank as “NOT past due – NEVER was past due.”

283. On September 26, 2001, plaintiff filed her small claims complaint against EXPERIAN in Kingman, AZ, Justice Court. Plaintiff was requesting complete consumer disclosures with all data EXPERIAN distributes to creditors and FAIR ISAAC, including account type and inquiry coding.  EXPERIAN’s Carla Blair later denied in mediation that the plaintiff’s CONSUMERINFO.COM tri-merged report contained EXPERIAN data, and plaintiff dismissed without prejudice on 5/10/02.

284. Upon information and belief, EXPERIAN has been withholding critical data intentionally and maliciously from all consumers. EXPERIAN fails to disclose the purpose of inquiries as well as the account types and this data is utilized by FAIR ISAAC credit scoring software to calculate plaintiff’s credit scores.

285. The EXPERIAN refusal to disclose the purpose of inquiries resulted in plaintiff’s incorrect assumption that Wells Fargo inquiries were promotional when she settled for $1,000 with Wells Fargo in 2001.

286. The EXPERIAN refusal to disclose the purpose of inquiries subjects plaintiff to possible identity theft, as she has no way of knowing whether users of her reports had a permissible purpose.

287. The October 30, 2001 CREDITDATA SW investigation results stated that the Union Bank account “was verified on 10-2001 and remained unchanged.”  The account was still reported as “$0 past due as of 8-2001.”
288. The October 30, 2001 CREDITDATA SW correction summary states that they refused to investigate the AMERICAN AGENCIES dispute:

"We are unable to process your disputes as they are not specific.  If there is information appearing on a credit profile that is believed to be inaccurate or incomplete, we must have a specific dispute. Examples of a specific dispute are: "not mine," "paid in full," "never delinquent," "included in bankruptcy," or "incorrect status."  If the status, dates, amounts, balances or other specific data is incorrect, you should also indicate what the correct information should be. Please provide us with the specific disputes and we will be happy to begin an investigation."

289. The CREDITDATA SW correction summary dated October 30, 2001 stated: "Questions? Call 602-528-7785." No toll free number was listed anywhere.
290. The CREDITDATA SW correction summary dated October 30, 2001 stated: "Social Security number variations" and "As a security precaution, we did not list the Social Security number that you gave us when you contacted us."  Plaintiff does not know whether any SSN variations are in her EXPERIAN credit file.
291. Because CRAs often delete closed accounts upon dispute and account history is so important for FAIR ISAAC credit scores, plaintiff did not dispute the Union Bank account again.

292. Plaintiff disputed the AMERICAN AGENCY collection again with CREDITDATA SW, hoping they would contact AMERICAN AGENCIES and verify plaintiff’s dispute.
293. The December 21, 2002 correction summary again states that CREDITDATA SW was unable to process plaintiff’s request. 

294. Again, no toll free number was provided.
295. PROVIDIAN reported the discharged account as: “Discharged Through BK Ch 7, 11, or 12  07/31/1996 to 011/30/2001.”

296. Upon information and belief, PROVIDIAN re-aged the discharge date every month.

297. Because plaintiff resided in Arizona, she had been unable to subscribe to EXPERIAN’s credit monitoring service in 2001. Numerous times she had tried to subscribe, only to get a message indicating that the service was not available in Arizona.

298. Consumer credit sites on the internet had been highly recommending the EXPERIAN online disputes of credit inquiries, as consumers were getting many inquiry deletions.

299. Upon information and belief, EXPERIAN refused most written disputes of inquiries, stating that deletion violates the FCRA, but they offered the disputes of inquiries to the select segment of consumers who had access to their online service.

300. Upon information and belief, EXPERIAN offered the online inquiry disputes to increase sales of their credit reports and monitoring services.

301. When plaintiff discovered that the online reports were finally available to Arizona residents, EXPERIAN had already removed the inquiry dispute feature from their web site. However, a consumer had discovered how to continue to dispute inquiries online by pasting certain URLs into the browser. While the links to those URLs had been removed, pasting the URLs worked and plaintiff disputed numerous inquiries.

302. From the May 25, 2002 EXPERIAN Summary of Investigation Results:
“RET NATL BANK TARGET Date: 02/23/2002  Outcome: Deleted”
EXPERIAN deleted numerous inquiries, despite the FCRA requirement to report inquiries for at least one year.

303. While plaintiff increased her FICO credit scores with those deletions, plaintiff did not dispute her inquiries for that reason.  Plaintiff’s goal was to be able to prove that EXPERIAN offered inquiry disputes online in violation of the FCRA.

304. These inquiry deletions are also significant because they prove without doubt that consumers with internet access have a tremendous credit advantage over consumers who are not computer savvy and/or cannot afford internet access. 

305. On May 31, 2002, EXPERIAN again verified the incorrectly reported CAPITAL ONE account and a Fleet account, also reported with a re-aged bankruptcy date. PROVIDIAN was also updated with a re-aged bankruptcy date:
 “Discharged Through BK Ch 7, 11, or 12  07/31/1996 to 04/30/2002.”

306. In July 6, 2002, EXPERIAN again verified the incorrectly reported CAPITAL ONE account: “Account History: Charge Off as of 4-2001, 3-2001, 12-2000, 7-2000, 6-2000, 5-2000, 6-1996.  Discharged Through BK Ch 7, 11, or 12 04/30/2001 to 02/28/2002.”

307. On July 6, 2002, EXPERIAN again verified the incorrectly reported PROVIDIAN account: “Account History: Discharged Through BK Ch 7, 11, or 12 07/31/1996 to 06/28/2002.”

308. On or about July 28, 2002, plaintiff requested at the EXPERIAN web site that the credit limits be added to both CAPITAL ONE accounts.

309. On or about September 2, 2002, plaintiff tried to dispute the incorrect account history for the discharged CAPITAL ONE and PROVIDIAN accounts.  EXPERIAN refused both disputes: 

"We have already investigated this information, and the creditor has verified that it is correct." 

310. On or about September 3, 2002, EXPERIAN again verified the open CAPITAL ONE accounts without credit limits.

311. On or about September 3, 2002, plaintiff faxed her request for the CAPITAL ONE investigation procedures to EXPERIAN. No reply was received.

312. On or about November 3, 2002, EXPERIAN refused plaintiff’s online disputes of the incorrect account histories for the discharged PROVIDIAN and CAPITAL ONE accounts, and refused the requests for addition of the credit limits of the open CAPITAL ONE accounts.

313. On or about November 3, 2002, plaintiff requested online that EXPERIAN add the limit to her Target account.

314. On or about November 3, 2002, plaintiff again faxed to EXPERIAN her request for the investigation procedures and requested that EXPERIAN provide the permissible purpose for each credit inquiry.

315. On or about November 7, 2002, EXPERIAN verified the Target account without the credit limit.

316. On or about December 23, 2002, plaintiff faxed again to EXPERIAN the 11/4 request for procedures of the CAPITAL ONE investigations and also requested the procedures for the Target investigation. Plaintiff also attached her 11/3/02 fax.

317. On December 25, 2002, plaintiff received an e-mailed alert from EXPERIAN, notifying her of the COMPASS BANK judgment on her credit and she noticed that EXPERIAN reported that COMPASS BANK was the “plaintiff.”  Plaintiff faxed her dispute of the incorrect reporting to EXPERIAN.

318. On or about January 12, 2003, plaintiff was alerted to the reporting of the second judgment, also stating that COMPASS BANK was the “plaintiff”, and she faxed the dispute of the incorrect reporting to EXPERIAN.

319. On or about January 12, 2003, plaintiff noticed that EXPERIAN was reporting the discharged PROVIDIAN account in the section of her report titled “Accounts in Good Standing” and EXPERIAN reported the account incorrectly:

“Status: Closed/Never late. $4,959 past due as of 7-2002.” and “Status Details: 
This account is scheduled to continue on record until 7-2009.” and “Recent Balance: $19,558 as of 07/2002.” And “Last Reported: 07/2002.”

320. According to the EXPERIAN consumer disclosure, these changes were not made by PROVIDIAN as the “last reported” date is 7/2002.

321. Upon information and belief, EXPERIAN changed the reporting of this 1996 discharged account to retaliate against plaintiff for her numerous disputes of incorrect data.  EXPERIAN tried to hide this extremely derogatory PROVIDIAN account with the good accounts, re-aged the account and reported the incorrect balance and past due amount.

322. On or about January 12, 2003, plaintiff’s attempt to dispute the incorrect PROVIDIAN reporting online with EXPERIAN was declined:

“We have already investigated this information, and the creditor has verified that it is correct.”

323. On or about January 15, 2003, plaintiff faxed to EXPERIAN:

a) The dispute of the PROVIDIAN account.

b) The request for the reporting of the credit limits for the CAPITAL ONE accounts and the Target account.

c) The request for the reporting of the recent payment for her Target VISA.

d) The request for disclosure of the permissible purpose for all inquiries, such as account review, promotional, or whatever other purpose.

e) The request for a user changeable PIN.

f) The request not to mail consumer disclosures through unsecure postal service.

g) The request for a toll free phone number

h) The deletion of all addresses other than plaintiff’s current and correct billing address in Cottonwood.

Plaintiff also requested that the response be faxed or e-mailed.

324. On March 14, 2003, plaintiff received the EXPERIAN response dated 2/10/2003, mailed by US mail to her Cottonwood address. EXPERIAN stated regarding the Target VISA missing payment:

“Credit grantors send us updated payment information routinely, but that does not guarantee that your most recent payment will show on your personal credit report. We updated our records as we receive the information from the credit grantor.”

None of plaintiff’s Target and CAPITAL ONE accounts show any payment ever, despite plaintiff’s many monthly payments.

325. EXPERIAN also states in the 2/10/03 response:

“WE DO NOT HAVE PIN NUMBERS, AND WE ONLY MAIL CREDIT REPORTS, UNLESS YOU COME INTO AN OFFICE TO PICK UP.”

326. EXPERIAN ignored all other items addressed in plaintiff’s 1/15/03 fax, and the consumer disclosure lists the 602-528-7785 number – NOT a toll free number.

327. On March 15, 2003, plaintiff ordered her new EXPERIAN consumer disclosure online. EXPERIAN reported:

a) The CAPITAL ONE and Target accounts without the credit limits and without recent payments

b) The PROVIDIAN account was reported incorrectly:

A) with a $19,558 balance as of 7/2002

B) $4,959 past due as of 7/2002

C) re-aged to 7/2002

D) reported since 5/2002

328. EXPERIAN also provided plaintiff with the incorrect CreditExpert credit scores,  and misleading credit analysis and credit score tips.
329. Upon information and belief, CRAIG SMITH was CEO of EXPERIAN at all times pertinent hereto and is therefore responsible for it’s actions.
CONSUMERINFO.COM

330. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.

331. CONSUMERINFO.COM resells tri-merged consumer credit reports for $34.95 and plaintiff purchased these reports on several occasions when TRANS UNION declined to provide her credit report.

332. Plaintiff previously advised CONSUMERINFO.COM that their reports are not complete and that the inquiries resulting from these consumer orders could lower credit scores. CONSUMERINFO.COM responded that their inquiries did not lower credit scores.

333. CONSUMERINFO.COM claimed in plaintiff’s 6/23/01 tri-merged credit report that TRANS UNION reported a Bureau of Commercial collection. The TRANS UNION consumer disclosures dated 3/9/01 and 9/27/01 reported the PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY collection, but no Bureau of Commercial collection. 
334. Upon information and belief, the CONSUMERINFO.COM 6/23/01 report does not contain the PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY collection reported by TRANS UNION on 3/9/01 and 9/27/01. 
335. Upon information and belief, the CONSUMERINFO.COM 6/23/01 report claimed that TRANS UNION reported the Home Savings and Sears accounts as unrated. The TRANS UNION consumer disclosures dated 3/9/01 and 9/27/01 reported the accounts correctly “paid as agreed.”
336. Upon information and belief, the CONSUMERINFO.COM 6/23/01 report contained different data than the TRANS UNION report, and plaintiff has no explanation for those major differences.
337. According to TRANS UNION attorney Amanda Lewis, the inquiries resulting from all consumer credit disclosures not ordered directly from TRANS UNION will result in “hard” score lowering inquiries as if the consumers had applied for credit. 

338. On March 10, 2003, CONSUMERINFO.COM advertised at their web site that they offered the most complete credit reports, and the advertised credit scores for an additional $5 each. Plaintiff ordered the tri-merged credit report and the TRANS UNION credit score, expecting to receive the FAIR ISAAC Empirica score.  Instead, plaintiff received a TRANS UNION worthless and incorrect score no lender uses.

339. Plaintiff e-mailed to CONSUMERINFO.COM on 10/3/02 her request for a full refund because their report was not complete and the score was worthless. The "date of last activity" was missing from the report and only two years of payment history instead of 7 years were reported.
340. Plaintiff received an automated acknowledgment of her e-mail right away, promising review and response to her e-mail in the order received.
VERIZON AND FCC
341. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.

342. Beginning in late November 1998, plaintiff called VERIZON numerous times to cancel her cellular service.

343. It was March or April 1999, when VERIZON finally closed the account and made some billing adjustments after plaintiff’s numerous extremely frustrating calls.

344. On 7/16/99, plaintiff verified the 0 balance through the VERIZON automated account information line from a Seattle pay phone.

345. After plaintiff's return from Alaska in 10/99, she received several invoices from VERIZON for $105, along with a check for $90.42, dated 7/23/99.  Plaintiff did not cash the check.

346. On or about January 13, 2000, after numerous failed attempts to resolve this dispute, plaintiff tried to fax her complaint to the FCC, but the fax line was not answered. However, VERIZON received a copy of the complaint, ignored it and continued to bill plaintiff.

347. On or about April 22, 2000, the FCC finally received the complaint, assigned reference number 2000004852 and requested a response from VERIZON.

348. On or about June 1, 2000, Kay Howe, Administrator, Regulatory Department, VERIZON, responded: "We found no record indicating we refunded the customer $90.42."  Kay Howe also insisted that plaintiff owed $105. Plaintiff left numerous messages for the FCC's Vanessa Kuhn at (717) 338-2546, who ignored the calls.

349. On or about July 29, 2000, plaintiff spent her last night in Arizona prior to leaving for Alaska at her mechanic's shop and sent her response to the FCC and VERIZON. No response was received from VERIZON or the FCC.

350. However, plaintiff subsequently received several collection notices from National Action Financial Services, Inc. (NAFS).

351. On or about October 13, 2000, after her return from Alaska, plaintiff called NAFS and was informed that they no longer had the account.  Plaintiff called VERIZON, and they refused to discuss the account with her and demanded that she call NCO Financial Systems. Plaintiff called NCO, but they refused to provide any information and refused to process plaintiff's dispute unless she provided her social security number.

352. On or about October 13, 2000, plaintiff started leaving voice messages for the Vanessa Kuhn with the FCC.  Plaintiff was ignored until she left an extremely long message.  Vanessa Kuhn then called plaintiff and informed her that there was nothing the FCC would do for her unless she filed a "formal" complaint at a cost of $165. 

353. On or about October 17, 2000, Vanessa Kuhn faxed to plaintiff the 14 pages of instructions, strongly recommending legal representation.

354. In December 2000, plaintiff received a collection notice from NCO Financial on behalf of VERIZON, demanding payment of $128.10.  Plaintiff mailed to NCO her dispute including the 8-page printout of her VERIZON billing fraud documentary at http://bayhouse.com/discus/messages/17/217.html.

355. In September 2002, plaintiff received a collection notice from Dymacol Incorporated, demanding payment of $105 for VERIZON and plaintiff disputed with Dymacol. No response was received.

COMPASS BANK

356. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.

357. In December 1998, plaintiff was declined a checking account by Bank One in Cottonwood, AZ.   After numerous calls from pay phones and literally hours of listening to ChexSystems announcements and hold music until they eventually disconnected the call after 30 or 40 minutes, plaintiff drove back to San Francisco so she could use a relative's speakerphone.  Eventually, plaintiff found out that she had been reported to ChexSystems in error by Washington Mutual Bank, fka Home Savings.  It took several weeks to get this error corrected.

358. On June 26, 2001, plaintiff applied with COMPASS BANK and subsequently received this e-mail from Caroline Owens:

"We have processed your application, and, unfortunately, we are unable to open the account at this time. You will receive a letter in the mail shortly detailing the reasons and sources for decline."

359. On or about August 9, 2001, plaintiff responded to the e-mail from Caroline Owens, COMPASS BANK:

"I didn't get a letter, I need to know WHY you won't do business with me. Please respond immediately."

360. On or about August 10, 2001, the e-mail was returned: “Message status – undeliverable” and “Caroline.Owens@compassbnk.com (user not found)”.
361. Plaintiff was offering consulting services through her web site at BayHouse.com and needed a business checking account to be able to receive online payments through PayPal.  Plaintiff's business account was with Netbank and Netbank had announced that they were closing all commercial accounts in October.
362. As plaintiff did not write bad checks and could not think of any reason why COMPASS BANK would decline her checking account application, plaintiff became increasingly concerned when she didn’t receive the promised letter.
363. Not only are there very few banks within 150 miles of plaintiff’s residence, but she also knew that many banks run credit checks and that each credit inquiry could significantly lower her credit scores.
364. Plaintiff spent hours trying to get information from the wrong bank, Compass Bank of Massachusetts, and plaintiff was already extremely frustrated by the time COMPASS BANK employees transferred her from department to department and nobody had ever heard of Caroline Owens or an adverse action letter. When she was transferred again and ended up at a voicemail, she left a message, but nobody called back.
365. On April 24, 2002, plaintiff filed her small claims complaint in Kingman, AZ, Justice Court against COMPASS BANK.
366. In response to the COMPASS BANK Motion to Dismiss, plaintiff wrote:
“Is there a specific code section that exempts the defendant from complying with the FCRA § 615. Requirements on users of consumer reports [15 U.S.C. § 1681m]?”

367. Robert Brooks, attorney for COMPASS BANK, stated in his response: 

“In both her Complaint and her Objection, she fails to set forth any set of facts or legal theory under which she would be entitled from this Court.”

368. Robert Brooks also pointed out that a bank like COMPASS BANK can refuse to do business with anyone, based on any reason, implying that banks may discriminate just like bars. He did not offer any explanation for plaintiff’s decline or why Caroline Owens promised: “You will receive a letter in the mail shortly detailing the reasons and sources for decline.”

369. Justice of the Peace John Taylor dismissed the case on June 17, 2002.

370. The adverse action letter was and still is extremely important for the plaintiff:

a) Plaintiff did not know that her credit reports contained incorrect derogatory information, as she pays her bills on time.

b) After the checking account decline, she wondered what was on her credit reports.  But, credit reports are not free unless the consumer has an adverse action letter. Plaintiff eventually purchased her credit reports.

c) Plaintiff could not and still can not establish who caused the decline without the adverse action letter.  

371. Not being able to open a checking account is one of the worst adverse actions anyone can suffer. Plaintiff is very fortunate to have those cancelled checks for PACIFIC BELL and VERIZON.  Paying bills with cash and money orders is a huge step towards becoming a victim of creditor accounting and billing fraud.
372. On June 27, 2002, plaintiff filed her second small claims complaint.  She felt that COMPASS BANK had no permissible purpose to obtain her credit report, if they in fact had declined her checking account application due to their dislike of plaintiff’s zip code, skin color, religious belief, gender, or whatever else COMPASS BANK criteria might have been.
373. Robert Brooks finally admitted in his Motion to Dismiss that COMPASS BANK declined plaintiff’s checking account application due to her credit report. 
374. Plaintiff agreed to dismiss this case, and requested that the first case be reopened, as apparently the FCRA requirement for the adverse action letter did apply after all.
375. Plaintiff made a clerical error and used the case number of the first case, as there were a total of 4 case numbers, due to the move to the Civil Division. She noticed the clerical error a few days later and sent the filing with the correct case number and her apologies to the Court.
376. Robert Brooks requested dismissal and attorney’s fees in his next motion and Justice of the Peace John Taylor complied and ordered plaintiff to pay attorney’s fees for both cases.

377. In both cases, plaintiff was denied a hearing. 

378. Upon information and belief, Arizona law requires that Justice Court decisions have to be appealed within 10 days from the SIGNING of the order, NOT from receipt of the Order. Plaintiff had no way of knowing when such an Order would be signed, nor did she expect such a ruling.  Plaintiff did not receive the first Order until the 10 days were almost up, and no information about the appeal process was included in the mailing. Plaintiff immediately made the 150 mile round trip to the Kingman law library to find out how to appeal, but the librarian couldn’t find a form or any instructions.

379. When plaintiff received the second order, she set up an appointment with an attorney in Kingman on “day 10” and he advised her that no Kingman attorney would take an FCRA case, and that no Phoenix attorney would drive the 200 miles to Kingman
380. Through her second small claims complaint plaintiff discovered that apparently COMPASS BANK based the decline of her application in June 2001 on her TRANS UNION credit report. This simple disclosure came at a cost to plaintiff of $612 for the attorney’s fees, plus filing and related costs, judgments on her credit and many hours of writing motions.

381. In December 2001, COMPASS BANK had cheerfully opened her checking account at their Kingman branch, and shortly thereafter opened a second account for plaintiff. 

382. Until COMPASS BANK provides the adverse action letter, promised by Caroline Owens and required by the FCRA, plaintiff can only speculate that the June 2001 decline was caused by the incorrect credit data she disputed with TRANS UNION in August 2001.

383. On or about January 24, 2003, plaintiff tried to deposit a $4,000 CAPITAL ONE credit card check at the Kingman COMPASS BANK branch. The check was refused and Brenda Knarr provided plaintiff with a written statement, indicating that it is COMPASS BANK policy not to accept credit card checks and suggesting that plaintiff take out a cash advance or have CAPITAL ONE wire the funds into her account.

384. Plaintiff could have incurred substantial damages had she mailed this check to COMPASS BANK for deposit, not knowing that it would be refused. Plaintiff paid and continues to pay higher interest rates due to the refusal, as she could not take advantage of the CAPITAL ONE promotional offer.

385. The letter with the unsolicited CAPITAL ONE checks, offering a lower interest rate than for cash advances or purchases, strongly encouraged plaintiff to deposit these checks in her bank account and specifically stated that these checks could be used just like any other check. Apparently, that is not so.

PROVIDIAN

386. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
387. On September 13, 2001, PayPal VISA sent a letter informing plaintiff that they could not open the VISA account she had applied for at their web site and advised:

"If you would like a statement of the specific reasons why we could not open an account for you, please write to us at the following address within 60 days of the date of this letter.  We will send you a statement of reasons within 30 days after receiving your request.  Providian Financial, Attn: PayPal VISA, PO Box 9157, Pleasanton, CA 94566-9157"

388. Plaintiff called the 800-775-3490 for PayPal VISA and was told to call PROVIDIAN at 888-482-8461. The PROVIDIAN representative indicated that plaintiff's EQUIFAX and EXPERIAN credit reports had been accessed, but refused to provide specific reasons for the decline as required by the ECOA and refused to provide a written statement.

389. Plaintiff could not locate any inquiries by PROVIDIAN on her EXPERIAN and EQUIFAX credit reports.
390. Upon information and belief, PROVIDIAN willfully and negligently verified incorrect credit data regarding plaintiff’s discharged account with EXPERIAN and EQUIFAX on numerous occasions.
T-MOBILE

391. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.

392. On or about July 7, 2001, plaintiff ordered T-MOBILE cellular service for use in case of an emergency on the road or in the desert.  The phone never worked when plaintiff needed it, her many e-mails to customer service were ignored and the 
T-MOBILE representatives were rude, ignorant and less than helpful.  Plaintiff was aware that she was obligated to continue to pay because she had signed up for a one year contract.

393. On or about June 26, 2002, plaintiff called T-MOBILE to cancel her cellular phone service.  Their representative refused to accept the cancellation, as the contract didn’t expire until July 12, 2002.  Plaintiff requested cancellation as of 7/12, and she was informed that it was not possible to cancel prior to 7/12, and that she would have to call back after the contract had expired. Plaintiff requested and received a fax number to fax the cancellation request.

394. On or about July 7, 2002, plaintiff faxed her cancellation to T-MOBILE.

395. On or about August 9, 2002, plaintiff called T-MOBILE again after she received another invoice. She was informed that they had received her fax, but did not know what to do with it. Plaintiff’s fax was the first page of her June 2002 statement, and she had written in large letters: “Please close this account.” Plaintiff also had written her telephone and fax numbers and e-mail address on this fax.

396. Plaintiff was transferred to the cancellation department and spoke with T-MOBILE representative Wes, ID 065375751.  He cancelled the service, but effective 8/9/02.  Plaintiff again explained that she had previously called and faxed, and she asked for credit for the amount billed since 7/12/02.  Wes could not understand why plaintiff requested a credit, he refused to credit the account and he refused permission to let plaintiff record the conversation.

397. Plaintiff had authorized T-MOBILE to charge the monthly bill to her credit card, and on 8/26/02, T-MOBILE charged another $22.58 for service she did not have.

398. Upon information and belief, T-MOBILE obtained plaintiff’s TRANS UNION credit report without a permissible purpose in 9/2002.

399. On or about February 10, 2003, plaintiff faxed her final request for a refund to the T-MOBILE legal department. Plaintiff also requested that they disclose their permissible purpose for the 9/02 credit inquiry or arrange for payment of the $1,000 statutory damages as per the FCRA.

400. Upon information and belief, T-MOBILE did not respond and did not refund the fraudulent charges.

HOUSEHOLD

401. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
402. When plaintiff sold her home in 1998 and left California, she notified Orchard BankCard numerous times of her new address in compliance with the instructions on their statements. 
403. In spring 1999, plaintiff discovered that the annual fee and late fees had been charged to the paid account and that Orchard BankCard had failed to change plaintiff’s address and subsequently she hadn’t received the statements at her new address.
404. After about an hour on the phone with Orchard BankCard supervisors, plaintiff thought the problem was resolved and the account closed.
405. Upon information and belief, HOUSEHOLD acquired Orchard BankCard.
406. In August 2000, plaintiff discovered the Orchard BankCard charge-off for $214 on her EQUIFAX credit report. Plaintiff went through the extremely time consuming and difficult process of disputing and resolving this fraudulent credit reporting while camping in Alaska.
407. In his letter dated September 8, 2000, Terry Watson, Compliance Department, HOUSEHOLD, apologized and stated that he had requested that the CRAs delete the tradeline from plaintiff’s credit. He also wrote: 
“Please be aware, the consumer reporting agencies generally take at least four to six weeks to have the change reflected on a credit report.”

408. Plaintiff has seen similar statements from many creditors, some stating that updates can take up to 90 days.  Apparently the CRAs routinely violate the FCRA by not processing creditor updates in a timely manner, or the creditors violate the FCRA by not immediately submitting the corrections to the CRAs.
409. On September 19, 2000, EQUIFAX notified plaintiff that they verified the Orchard charge-off for $214 with $60 past due, last reported in 9/00.
410. Both EXPERIAN and EQUIFAX continued to report the Orchard charge-off until plaintiff disputed again in 2001.
411. On June 12, 2001, plaintiff filed her small claims complaint in Kingman, AZ, Justice Court against Orchard BankCard.  Plaintiff did not know then that HOUSEHOLD had purchased Orchard BankCard and the complaint was later dismissed without prejudice, as they had not been properly served.
412. In his letter dated October 26, 2001, Terry Watson, Senior Executive Liaison, Compliance Department, HOUSEHOLD, advised plaintiff that they had no records of any suit.
413. EXPERIAN reports that HOUSEHOLD obtained plaintiff’s credit report on 10/23/01 and that Orchard Bank obtained her reports on 1/16/02 and 2/24/02.

414. Because EXPERIAN does not provide complete consumer disclosures, plaintiff does not know the purpose of these inquiries, but she can not recall applying for credit with HOUSEHOLD or Orchard Bank at that time.

415. Upon information and belief, HOUSEHOLD a.k.a. Orchard Bank had no permissible purpose to obtain plaintiff’s credit reports.

416. Upon information and belief, HOUSEHOLD failed to notify the CRAs of the deletion of the bogus charge-off or the CRAs ignored the deletion requests submitted by HOUSEHOLD.
CAPITAL ONE, FRB RICHMOND AND JAMES MCAFEE 

417. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
418. In May 2002, plaintiff notified CAPITAL ONE of her dispute of the charge by JFK Net Inc for $99 on 5/8/02. This charge was for the on-line purchase of credit repair software with a 30-day money back guarantee. When plaintiff received her login and password she realized that no software existed, and she immediately requested the refund through their web site. Plaintiff received no reply, no refund, and the web site later disappeared. Plaintiff also called the phone number listed on the CAPITAL ONE statement next to the charge, left a message on the voicemail, and did not receive a call back. Plaintiff then disputed the charge with CAPITAL ONE.
419. Upon information and belief, CardPal notified CAPITAL ONE on June 14, 2002 of plaintiff’s dispute of the $118.95 charge by Alinamicro.com.  Plaintiff had placed an internet order for a CD burner and in spite of several e-mails requesting shipment to plaintiff’s physical address, they shipped to the wrong address. Plaintiff had to pay for shipping a 2nd time, and then discovered that the advertised software was missing. Plaintiff called Alinamicro.com and was promised shipment of the software, but received nothing. The CD burner was not usable without software.

420. When CAPITAL ONE ignored both billing disputes, plaintiff sent another dispute via certified mail. Plaintiff also verified with CardPal that they had sent the notification to CAPITAL ONE on 6/14/02.

421. CAPITAL ONE finally began investigations, and plaintiff had numerous communications with Nicole Simmons and other employees at CAPITAL ONE.

422. On or about August 25, 2002, plaintiff submitted her extremely detailed description of the disputes.

423. On or about October 1, 2002, plaintiff supplied Ms. Simmons upon her request with even more detailed information about the Alinamicro.com order. Plaintiff provided the printout of the order, stating that software was to be included and plaintiff’s e-mails to Alinamicro.com requesting shipment to the correct address.

424. In a letter dated November 5, 2002, J. Oliver with CAPITAL ONE advised plaintiff that “current operating procedures prevent us from intervening in every instance.” He goes on to claim that plaintiff failed to send the information they requested and he informed her that both requests for credit were declined.

425. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE operating procedures include ignoring billing disputes unless customers can prove receipt, and to then wear out consumers by requesting more and more documentation, ignoring submitted documentation, and to eventually decline the requests for credit due to merchant fraud.           

426. Upon information and belief, and on numerous occasions throughout 2002 up to present, CAPITAL ONE reported incorrect and incomplete credit data to the CRAs and verified incorrect and incomplete credit data upon plaintiff’s disputes with the CRAs.
427. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE re-aged plaintiff’s 1996 discharged account and verified the incorrect dates and balance with EXPERIAN.
428. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE received plaintiff’s faxed dispute of the incorrectly reported 1996 discharged account on or about 7/19/02 and CAPITAL ONE ignored it.

429. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE refused the reporting of her credit limits for the two open accounts on numerous occasions when contacted by the CRAs after plaintiff’s disputes.
430. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE received plaintiff’s faxed request for the reporting of the missing credit limits on or about 11/11/02 and CAPITAL ONE ignored it.

431. On or about November 12, 2002, plaintiff sent her complaints about CAPITAL ONE,  including the refusal to report credit limits, to J. Alfred Broaddus, Jr., President, FRB RICHMOND.  Plaintiff explained in great detail the devastating damages inflicted upon CAPITAL ONE account holders due to the willful FCRA violations.

432. In his letter dated November 21, 2002, JAMES MCAFEE, Senior Vice President and General Counsel of FRB RICHMOND, acknowledged receipt of plaintiff’s complaint and he stated that he intended to complete his review "without unavoidable delay." 

433. On or about January 30, 2003, plaintiff faxed her request for an update to JAMES MCAFEE, no reply was received.

434. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE wrote to a consumer in their 2/24/03 letter that they do not report the credit limits.

435. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE Consumer Advocate, Executive Office, Eugene Cooke, replied to a consumer regarding his PFB complaint about the missing credit limits.  Excerpt:

“According to your posting on Planet Feedback, you expressed concerns regarding your account and the manner we report to the credit reporting agencies. Capital One exercises a company prerogative to report the high balances verses credit limits. We believe that this manner of reporting provides the most accurate reflection of an account’s performance. We regret that this is frustrating. Please be assured that this was not our intent.”

436. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE intentionally and maliciously does not report the credit limits because the resulting low credit scores cause declines when their customers apply for credit with competitors.

437. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE profits increase when their customers are unable to obtain credit with competitors and consumers have no choice but to use the CAPITAL ONE cards.
438. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE profits increase when their customers get declined by competitors and subsequently don’t have the funds to make their CAPITAL ONE payments on time and they incur late and over limit fees.
439. This complaint does not contain all of plaintiff’s disputes and communications with the defendants as she tried hard to summarize and to not make this a book.

440. Plaintiff has wasted literally thousands of hours on these never ending disputes with CRAs, creditors and merchants and complaints with the regulators who supposedly enforce consumer protection legislation, but do nothing.
441. Plaintiff has also submitted many complaints on behalf of friends, neighbors and readers too poor, old, ill, depressed, suicidal or simply too uneducated to put up with the emotionally exhausting and extremely time consuming process, often resulting in nothing but wasted time and energy and tremendous frustration.32ks,
442. Plaintiff’s case is not the exception, but the rule.
443. Plaintiff is appalled by the ruthless and systematic exploitation of anyone who is exploitable, the widespread accounting and billing fraud, condoned by the U.S. government and regulators such as the FTC, FRB RICHMOND, FCC and the people in charge.

CAUSES OF ACTION

FCRA, FDCPA, ECOA, FCBA, NEGLIGENCE, DEFAMATION, 
FRAUD AND EXTORTION

444. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
445. At all times pertinent hereto, FAIR ISAAC, THOMAS G. GRUDNOWSKI, THOMAS J. QUINN and BARRY PAPERNO knew that their credit scoring software produced and continues to produce incorrect credit scores, resulting in  negative representations concerning plaintiff’s credit worthiness

446. Nonetheless, FAIR ISAAC intentionally and maliciously continues to disseminate and sell the flawed credit scoring software and the resulting incorrect scores to consumers and creditors worldwide.

447. BARRY PAPERNO and THOMAS J. QUINN provided false, misleading and incomplete information about the composition of the scores to plaintiff and others.

448. FAIR ISAAC’s sale and dissemination of the flawed credit scoring software and of incorrect and damaging credit scores constitutes libel per se.

449. The conduct of FAIR ISAAC, THOMAS G. GRUDNOWSKI, THOMAS J. QUINN and BARRY PAPERNO was a direct and proximate cause as well as a substantial factor in bringing about the serious injuries, damages and harm, and they are liable to compensate plaintiff for the full amount of actual, compensatory and punitive damages, as well as such other relief, as permitted by law.

450. PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY failed to inform plaintiff of her right to dispute the alleged collection in violation of FDCPA § 1692g(a).

451. PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY willfully and negligently failed to conduct a reasonable investigation of plaintiff’s dispute, communicated by TRANS UNION, in violation of FCRA § 1681s-2(b).

452. PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY willfully and negligently failed to notify TRANS UNION of plaintiff’s dispute in violation of FDCPA § 1692e(8).

453. PROFESSIONAL RECOVERY knowingly and willfully continued to collect in Arizona without license and bond as required by A.R.S. §§ 6-703 and 715.

454. AMERICAN AGENCIES willfully and negligently used the name “American Agencies” instead of their true name “American Credit Agencies” in violation of FDCPA § 1692e(14).

455. AMERICAN AGENCIES willfully and negligently and on numerous occasions failed to inform plaintiff of her right to dispute the alleged collection and refused plaintiff’s disputes in violation of FDCPA § 1692g.

456. AMERICAN AGENCIES willfully and negligently failed to notify EXPERIAN of plaintiff’s numerous disputes, and on many occasions failed to disclose that they are debt collectors in violation of FDCPA §§ 1692e-8 and 1692e-10.

457. AMERICAN AGENCIES obtained plaintiff’s credit file 3 three times without a permissible purpose in violation of FCRA § 1681q.

458. AMERICAN AGENCIES knowingly and willfully continued to collect in Arizona without license and bond as required by A.R.S. §§ 6-703 and 715.

459. AMERICAN AGENCIES furnished defamatory and false information with malice and willful intent to injure plaintiff. Distributing the inaccurate collection data to CRAs constitutes libel per se.

460. TOM WELLS willfully and negligently failed to inform plaintiff of her right to dispute the alleged collection and failed to advise her that he was a debt collector on several occasions in violation of FDCPA §§ 1692e-8 and 1692e-10, and he knowingly and willfully continued to collect without license and bond as required by A.R.S. §§ 6-703 and 715.

461. PACIFIC BELL willfully and negligently failed to comply with generally accepted accounting standards and failed to investigate plaintiff’s numerous disputes with the intent to defraud plaintiff.

462. PACIFIC BELL employed collection agents engaging in deceptive and illegal debt collection practices and attempting to extort payment of this invalid debt by reporting the fraudulent collection to the CRAs.

463. PACIFIC BELL employed collection agents despite plaintiff’s numerous disputes and proof of payment in form of the cancelled check, resulting in the defamation of plaintiff’s character due to their agents’ credit reporting.

464. PACIFIC BELL is responsible and liable for the misconduct and FDCPA violations by the collection agencies they employed.

465. PACIFIC BELL knowingly sold this fraudulent debt after being served with plaintiff’s small claims complaint, with the intent to further harm plaintiff.

466. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to limit the furnishing of consumer reports to users with a permissible purpose in violation of FCRA § 1681e(a).
467. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the information contained in consumer reports in violation of FCRA § 1681e(b).

468. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to provide complete consumer disclosures on numerous occasions in violation of FCRA § 1681g(a)1.
469. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to provide to plaintiff a summary of all rights in violation of FCRA § 1681g(c).
470. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to provide consumer disclosures by telephone and fax in violation of FCRA § 1681h(b).
471. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to provide trained personnel in violation of FCRA § 1681h(c).
472. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to investigate plaintiff’s disputes, failed to provide notice of the disputes to the furnishers and failed to consider plaintiff’s information in violation of §§ 1681i(a)1, 1681i(a)2, 1681i(a)4.
473. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to provide written notice by fax or e-mail as requested by plaintiff on numerous occasions and failed to provide required notices in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)6, subjecting plaintiff to the possibility of identity theft.

474. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently failed to provide the descriptions of reinvestigation procedures, requested numerous times by plaintiff, in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)7.
475. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently reported incorrect addresses for plaintiff, subjecting her to the possibility of identity theft, lost opportunities and loss of important mailings, including consumer credit disclosures.

476. TRANS UNION maliciously and intentionally disseminated incorrect defamatory statements about plaintiff.

477. TRANS UNION willfully and negligently engaged in the sale of worthless and incorrect credit scores with intent to mislead and defraud plaintiff and millions of consumers.
478. HARRY GAMBILL is responsible and liable for the TRANS UNION procedures resulting in the numerous FCRA violations and the subsequent serious damages to plaintiff and many millions of consumers.

479. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to limit the furnishing of consumer reports to users with a permissible purpose in violation of FCRA § 1681e(a).
480. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the information contained in consumer reports in violation of FCRA § 1681e(b).

481. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to provide complete consumer disclosures on numerous occasions in violation of FCRA § 1681g(a)1.
482. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to provide to plaintiff with a summary of all rights in violation of FCRA § 1681g(c).
483. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to provide consumer disclosures by telephone and fax in violation of FCRA § 1681h(b).
484. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to provide trained personnel in violation of FCRA § 1681h(c).
485. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to investigate plaintiff’s disputes, failed to provide notice of the disputes to the furnishers and failed to consider plaintiff’s information in violation of §§ 1681i(a)1, 1681i(a)2, 1681i(a)4.
486. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to provide written notice by fax or e-mail as requested by plaintiff on numerous occasions and failed to provide the required notices in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)6, and subjecting plaintiff to the possibility of identity theft.

487. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently failed to provide the descriptions of reinvestigation procedures, requested numerous times by plaintiff, in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)7.
488. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW willfully and negligently reported incorrect addresses for plaintiff, subjecting her to the possibility of identity theft, lost opportunities and loss of important mailings, including consumer disclosures.

489. EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW maliciously and intentionally disseminated incorrect defamatory statements about plaintiff.

490. EXPERIAN willfully and negligently engaged in the sale of worthless and incorrect credit scores with intent to mislead and defraud plaintiff and millions of consumers.
491. CRAIG SMITH is responsible and liable for the EXPERIAN procedures resulting in the numerous FCRA violations and the subsequent serious damages to plaintiff and many millions of consumers.

492. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to limit the furnishing of consumer reports to users with a permissible purpose in violation of FCRA § 1681e(a).

493. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the information contained in consumer reports in violation of FCRA § 1681e(b).

494. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide complete consumer disclosures on numerous occasions in violation of FCRA § 1681g(a)1.
495. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide to plaintiff a summary of all rights in violation of FCRA § 1681g(c).
496. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide consumer disclosures by telephone and fax in violation of FCRA § 1681h(b), and subjecting plaintiff to the possibility of identity theft.
497. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide trained personnel in violation of FCRA § 1681h(c).
498. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to consider plaintiff’s information in violation of § 1681i(a)4.
499. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide written notice by fax or e-mail as requested by plaintiff on numerous occasions and failed to provide the required notices in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)6, subjecting plaintiff to the possibility of identity theft.

500. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide the descriptions of reinvestigation procedures, requested numerous times by plaintiff, in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)7.
501. TOM CHAPMAN is responsible and liable for the EQUIFAX procedures resulting in the numerous FCRA violations and the subsequent serious damages to plaintiff and many millions of consumers.

502. CONSUMERINFO.COM willfully and negligently failed to certify the purpose of plaintiff’s consumer disclosures in violation of FCRA § 1681e(e).
503. CONSUMERINFO.COM willfully and negligently failed to provide complete consumer disclosures on numerous occasions in violation of FCRA § 1681g(a)1.
504. CONSUMERINFO.COM willfully and negligently engaged in the sale of worthless and incorrect credit scores with intent to mislead and defraud plaintiff and millions of consumers.
505. COMPASS BANK failed to provide the adverse action letter after declining plaintiff’s checking account application despite their written promise and in violation of FCRA §1681m(a).

506. COMPASS BANK refused the deposit of plaintiff’s check into her checking account, violating the terms of the account agreement.

507. ROBERT GRAY obtained plaintiff’s credit file without a permissible purpose in violation of FCRA § 1681q.

508. ROBERT GRAY willfully, maliciously and on numerous occasions disseminated false and damaging statements with intent to harass, humiliate and defame plaintiff.

509. CAPITAL ONE willfully and negligently failed to credit plaintiff’s account after her disputes of fraudulent charges, in violation of the FCBA. 

510. CAPITAL ONE negligently engaged in false advertising, claiming that their credit card checks could be used like any check and deposited by plaintiff in her checking account.

511. CAPITAL ONE willfully and negligently failed to conduct reasonable investigations of plaintiff’s disputes, in violation of FCRA § 1681s-2(b). 

512. CAPITAL ONE intentionally and with malice refused to report the credit limits, inflicting substantial damages to plaintiff and millions of their customers, in violation of FCRA §§ 1681s-2(a) and 1681s-2(b).
513. HOUSEHOLD reported a fraudulent charge-off to the CRAs despite numerous written promises of deletion, resulting in the defamation of plaintiff’s character.

514. The HOUSEHOLD reporting of the fraudulent charge-off to the CRAs for dissemination constitutes libel per se.

515. HOUSEHOLD obtained plaintiff’s credit file on three occasions without a permissible purpose in violation of FCRA § 1681q.

516. NELNET willfully and negligently and on numerous occasions failed to conduct reasonable investigations of plaintiff’s disputes, in violation of FCRA § 1681s-2(b).

517. VERIZON willfully and negligently failed to comply with generally accepted accounting standards.

518. VERIZON willfully and negligently failed to investigate plaintiff’s numerous disputes, continued to employ collection agents threatening to report this debt to CRAs despite plaintiff’s FCC complaint, with the intent to extort payment of a fraudulent debt.
519. T-MOBILE willfully and negligently failed to close plaintiff’s account upon her request, and failed to refund overcharges as requested numerous times by plaintiff, in violation of the FCBA.
520. T-MOBILE obtained plaintiff’s credit file without a permissible purpose in violation of FCRA § 1681q.
521. PROVIDIAN failed to provide the adverse action letter after declining plaintiff’s PayPal VISA application on 9/13/01, in violation of FCRA § 1681m(a) and 
ECOA § 1691(d).
522. PROVIDIAN willfully and negligently failed to conduct reasonable investigations of plaintiff’s disputes, communicated by the CRAs on numerous occasions, in violation of FCRA § 1681s-2(b).
523. The FCC failed to regulate PACIFIC BELL, VERIZON and T-MOBILE as required by the FCBA.

524. The FTC intentionally and maliciously and on numerous occasions failed to enforce the FCRA, FDCPA and the 1995 FTC consent agreement with Equifax.

525. The FTC ignored plaintiff’s complaints and condoned and continues to condone the CRA, creditor and collector intentional and malicious FCRA and FDCPA violations.
526. The FTC ignored and continues to ignore FAIR ISAAC credit scores despite the enormous damages inflicted on plaintiff and many millions of consumers.
527. The FTC ignored and continues to ignore the sale of “snake oil” meaningless and worthless credit scores, developed by the CRAs for sale to unsuspecting consumers.
528. The FRB RICHMOND and JAMES MCAFEE intentionally and maliciously failed to enforce the FCRA, ignored plaintiff’s complaint and condoned and continue to condone the CAPITAL ONE intentional and malicious FCRA violations.
529. Plaintiff has applied for and has been denied various loans and extensions of consumer credit on many different occasions, and plaintiff was declined for a checking account. Plaintiff has been informed that the basis for these denials was the inaccurate and incomplete information that appeared on plaintiff’s credit reports or the credit scores based on those credit reports, and that the inaccurate and incomplete information was a substantial factor for those denials.

530. Plaintiff’s credit reports and credit scores have been reviewed many times by prospective and existing credit grantors and extenders of credit, and the inaccurate and incomplete information has been a substantial factor in precluding plaintiff from receiving many different credit offers and opportunities, known and unknown, and from receiving the most favorable terms in financing and interest rates for credit offers that were ultimately made.

531. As a result of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff has suffered actual damages and serious financial and pecuniary harm arising from monetary losses relating to credit denials, loss of use of funds, loss of credit and loan opportunities, excessive and/or elevated interest rate and finance charges, out-of-pocket expenses including, but not limited to, local or long distance telephone calls, postage, faxing and other related costs, all of which will continue into the future to plaintiff’s great detriment and loss.

532. As a result of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff has suffered great physical, emotional and mental pain and anguish, and plaintiff will continue to suffer the same for an indefinite time in the future, all to plaintiff’s great detriment and loss.

533. As a result of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff has suffered actual damages in the form of financial and dignitary harm arising from the injury to credit rating and reputation, and plaintiff will continue to suffer the same for an indefinite time in the future, all to plaintiff’s great detriment and loss.
534. Plaintiff is entitled to damages pursuant to FCRA §§ 1681n and 1681o, FDCPA  § 1692k and ECOA § 1691e.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

535. Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all issues so triable.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

536. Plaintiff seeks judgment in plaintiff’s favor and damages against the defendants, based on the following requested relief:

a) Actual damages;

b) Statutory damages;

c) Punitive damages;

d) Costs and reasonable attorney's fees;

e) An order directing that FAIR ISAAC immediately:

A. Modify their credit scoring software to exclude all inquiries;

B. Modify their credit scoring software to exclude the “high credit” balances from the balance/limit ratio if no limit is reported;

C. Modify their credit scoring software to rate collections by the original date of delinquency;

D. Provide detailed information about all data utilized by their scoring software from each CRA;

E. Disclose and correct all known credit scoring software defects;

F. Implement a procedure for the reporting of new bugs;

G. Disclose all changes to their software.

f) An order directing that TRANS UNION, EQUIFAX, EXPERIAN and CREDITDATA SW immediately:

A. Provide plaintiff with unlimited access to online credit reports and FAIR ISAAC credit scores;

B. Accept and act on all communications from plaintiff’s authorized representative;

C. Cease mailing consumer disclosures via unsecure postal service;

D. Provide the procedures of their investigations upon request;

E. Accept calls without requiring the purchase of a credit report;

F. Implement reasonable procedures to prevent inaccurate and incomplete reporting of accounts and accidental deletion of inquiries and tradelines;

G. Implement computerized error checking to eliminate obvious incorrect reporting such as a “current balance” higher than the “most owed,” empty fields for the “credit limit”, missing dates for late payments or any other derogatory notation, etc.;

H. Report all tradelines indefinitely;

I. Lock plaintiff’s primary address until notified by plaintiff of a new address to ensure that users of credit reports have the correct address;

J. Provide complete consumer disclosures including the date and purpose of credit inquiries, including the “auto” or “mortgage” classification currently utilized by FAIR ISAAC scores, the dates of all late payments, the dates of last activity, and ANY and ALL data utilized by any credit score;

K. Cease withholding consumer disclosures in response to legal action;

L. Display the tradelines on consumer disclosures in alphabetical order and cease communicating in ALL CAPS;

M. Cease selling and distributing inaccurate and misleading credit scores not utilized by lenders;

N. Implement user changeable PINs to prevent unauthorized access to consumer credit files and to prevent identity theft.

g) An order directing that CONSUMERINFO.COM immediately cease selling incomplete consumer disclosures and false and misleading credit scores;

h) An order directing that CAPITAL ONE immediately

A) report the credit limits for revolving accounts to any and all persons and entities to whom they report consumer credit information;

B) include a warning with their mailings of credit card checks, disclosing in large print that banks and merchants may refuse to accept those checks;

i) An order directing that VERIZON WIRELESS close out plaintiff’s account and refrain from assigning or selling plaintiff’s account to collectors and refrain from reporting this account to any persons or entities.

j) An order directing that AMERICAN AGENCIES close out plaintiff’s account and refrain from assigning or selling plaintiff’s account to collectors and refrain from reporting this account to any persons or entities.

k) An order directing that the FTC immediately enforce the FCRA and FDCPA.

l) An order directing that the FRB RICHMOND immediately enforce the FCRA.

m) An order directing that the FCC immediately investigate billing fraud complaints about entities they regulate without demanding $165 payments.

n) Such other and further relief as may be necessary, just and proper. 





Respectfully Submitted on __________________








_____________________

Christine Baker
Plaintiff, Pro Per
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